Sleep quality assessment in patients with arterial hypertension

Pehlivanovic, Nedim

Master's thesis / Diplomski rad

2024

Degree Grantor / Ustanova koja je dodijelila akademski / stručni stupanj: University of Split, School of Medicine / Sveučilište u Splitu, Medicinski fakultet

Permanent link / Trajna poveznica: https://urn.nsk.hr/urn:nbn:hr:171:572366

Rights / Prava: In copyright/Zaštićeno autorskim pravom.

Download date / Datum preuzimanja: 2025-01-22



SVEUČILIŠTE U SPLITU MEDICINSKI FAKULTET UNIVERSITAS STUDIOURUM SPALATENSIS FACULTAS MEDICA

Repository / Repozitorij:

MEFST Repository





UNIVERSITY OF SPLIT, SCHOOL OF MEDICINE

Nedim Pehlivanović

SLEEP QUALITY ASSESSMENT IN PATIENTS WITH ARTERIAL HYPERTENSION

Diploma thesis

Academic year: 2023./2024.

Mentor: Marko Kumrić, MD, PhD

Split, July 2024

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTR	ODUCTION	. 1
	1.1	Definition and classification	. 2
	1.2	Epidemiology	. 2
	1.3	Classification and etiology	.3
	1.3	1 Primary hypertension	. 3
	1.3	2 Secondary hypertension	. 4
	1.3	.3 White coat hypertension	5
	1.3	4 Masked hypertension	. 6
	1.4	Pathophysiology of hypertension	.7
	1.4	.2 Intravascular volume	. 7
	1.4	.1 Autonomic nervous system	. 7
	1.4	.3 Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system	. 8
	1.4	.4 Natriuretic peptides	10
	1.4	.5 Endothelium of blood vessels	1
	1.5	Hypertension-mediated organ damage (HMOD)	12
	1.5	.1 HMOD in the CV system	12
	1.5	2 HMOD in the kidneys	12
	1.5	.3 HMOD in the brain	13
	1.5	.4 HMOD in the eye	14
	1.6	BP measurement and monitoring	14
	1.6	.1 Standard office BP measurement	14
	1.6	2 Home blood pressure monitoring (HBPM)	15
	1.6	.3 Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM)	16
	1.7	Management of hypertension	17
	1.7	.1 Nonpharmacological treatment	17
	1.7	2 Pharmacological treatment	18
	1.8	Sleep quality and hypertension	21
	1.8	.1 Obstructive sleep apnea	23
2.	OBJE	CTIVES	24
3.	SUBJ	ECTS AND METHODS	26
4.	RESU	JLTS	29
5.	DISC	USSION	34
6.	CON	CLUSIONS	37
7.	REFE	RENCES	39
8.	SUM	MARY	59
9.	CRO	ATIAN SUMMARY	51

List of abbreviations

ABPM: ambulatory blood pressure monitoring ACE: Angiotensin-converting enzyme AHI: Apnea-Hypopnea Index (AHI) ANP: Atrial natriuretic peptide **BB:** Beta-blockers BMI: Body mass index BNP: Brain natriuretic peptide **BP: Blood pressure** CCB: Calcium channel blocker CHF: Congestive heart failure CKD: Chronic kidney disease CV: Cardiovascular CVD: Cardiovascular disease DBP: Diastolic blood pressure DM: Diabetes mellitus ESS: Epworth sleepiness scale HBPM: Home blood pressure monitoring HFrEF: Heart failure with reduced ejection fraction HMOD: Hypertensive end organ damage MAP: Mean arterial pressure NO: Nitric oxide **OBPM:** Office blood pressure measurement OSA: Obstructive sleep apnea PSQI: Pittsburgh sleep quality index SBP: Systolic blood pressure WCH: White coat hypertension WHO: World Health Organization

ACKNOWLEDGMENT

First and foremost, I would like to express my gratitude to my mentor, Marko Kumric, MD, PhD, for his invaluable guidance and dedicated mentorship throughout this research project.

Furthermore, I am sincerely grateful to my friends for making the past six years an incredible and unforgettable journey.

Finally, I would like to extend my deepest gratitude to my family and my partner for their unwavering support, providing me with strength and motivation.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Definition and classification

Hypertension is a chronic health condition characterized by consistently elevated blood pressure (BP) levels in the arteries. BP is typically measured in two ways: systolic blood pressure (SBP), which indicates the pressure in the arteries when the heart contracts and pumps blood out, and diastolic blood pressure (DBP), which measures the pressure in the arteries when the heart is resting between beats (1)

The latest version of the European guidelines for the BP classification remains consistent with previous editions (2). Hypertension is still defined as SBP exceeding 140 mmHg and/or DBP exceeding 90 mmHg, with hypertensive individuals categorized into three grades based on the degree of BP elevation. Normotensive individuals are also categorized as optimal (< 120/80 mmHg), normal (120–129/80–85 mmHg), or high-normal (130–139/85–89 mmHg). Hypertension is divided into three grades based on severity, as depicted in Table 1 (3-6).

Category	Systolic (mmHg)		Diastolic (mmHg)	
Optimal	<120	and	<80	
Normal	120-129	and	80-84	
High-normal	130-139	and/or	85-89	
Grade 1 hypertension	140-159	and/or	90-99	
Grade 2 hypertension	160-179	and/or	100-109	
Grade 3 hypertension	≥ 180	and/or	\geq 110	
Isolated systolic hypertension	\geq 140	and	< 90	
Isolated diastolic hypertension	<140	and	≥ 90	

Table 1. Classification of office blood pressures and definitions of hypertensive grades.

Source: Mancia G, Kreutz R, Brunström M, Burnier M, Grassi G, Januszewicz A, et al. 2023 ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. Endorsed by the International Society of Hypertension (ISH) and the European Renal Association (ERA). 2024:1;42(1):194.

1.2 Epidemiology

Hypertension is the most common cardiovascular disease (CVD) worldwide, and according to the World Health Organization (WHO), it affects 1.28 billion adults aged between 30 and 79 years, with two-thirds found in low-income and middle-income countries (7). In 2019, the average prevalence of hypertension in the mentioned age group was 34% among men and 32% among women (7). In Europe, this prevalence pattern is similar, with variations

between countries, and some Western countries reporting values below the average, while some Eastern European countries exhibit higher-than-average prevalence (7).

Among people below the age of 50, men tend to have a higher prevalence of hypertension, whereas women experience a more pronounced increase in SBP from their third decade, especially after menopause, which leads to a greater prevalence of hypertension in women in the older age groups (above 65 years) (8).

SBP generally increases with age, while DBP increases until age 50-60, followed by a brief period of stagnation and then a mild decrease (9). This increases the pulse pressure (the difference between SBP and DBP) with advancing age on a global scale, reflecting increased stiffening of the aorta (8).

In pre-industrial countries, the average BP levels were consistently around 115/75 mmHg, which indicates the typical or ideal BP for humans, with minimal changes across different age groups (10). In modern societies, systolic BP levels tend to increase steadily with age in both men and women. This trend can be attributed to age serving as a proxy for the probability and duration of exposure to various environmental factors that elevate BP gradually over time. These factors include insufficient dietary potassium, excessive sodium intake, obesity, lack of physical activity, and alcohol consumption. Additionally, genetic predisposition and adverse intrauterine environments, such as pre-eclampsia or gestational hypertension, have a minor association with elevated BP levels in adulthood (11).

As societies become more economically developed, hypertension initially affects individuals with higher socioeconomic status. Still, in the later stages of economic development, the prevalence and impact of hypertension are more pronounced among those with lower socioeconomic status. This phenomenon is observed both between and within countries. Furthermore, the rate of change in hypertension prevalence from 2000 to 2010 has been notably faster than in earlier epidemiological transitions (12).

1.3 Classification and etiology

1.3.1 Primary hypertension

The most common type of hypertension is classified as primary or essential, which accounts for about 90-95% of cases of hypertension. Primary hypertension has no detectable cause and has multifactorial etiology, including genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors (13).

Hypertension is influenced by many genes or gene combinations. Identifying variant genes contributing to hypertension development is complex due to the intermediary phenotypes

controlling BP, including kidney function, cardiovascular (CV) hemodynamics, the endocrine system, and neural activity. These phenotypes are also controlled by different mechanisms, including BP itself. There are, therefore, many genes that could participate in the development of hypertension (14). Nonetheless, it must be noted that identified genes (more than 100 of them) contribute to a relatively low increase in BP and cannot completely explain the genetic component of hypertension. The cause of this "missing heritability" paradox is still a matter of debate (15).

Environmental risk factors are evidently associated with the development of primary hypertension, including physical activity, diet, and alcohol consumption. Overweight and obesity in multiple epidemiological studies, like the Framingham Heart Study and Nurses Health Study, have shown a direct relationship between body mass index (BMI) and an increase in BP (16, 17). Sodium intake is associated with BP in cross-sectional, prospective, and migrant cohort studies and accounts for much of age-related hypertension (17). Potassium intake is inversely related in cross-sectional, prospective, and migrant cohort studies (17). Increased potassium intake amplifies sodium's effect on BP, and a lower sodium-to-potassium ratio is associated with lower BP (17). Studies have demonstrated an inverse relationship between high BP and physical fitness, where even small amounts of physical activity have been associated with a lower risk of hypertension. The presence of a direct relationship between alcohol consumption and increased BP has repeatedly been demonstrated in prospective and cross-sectional cohort studies (17).

1.3.2 Secondary hypertension

Secondary hypertension is defined as elevated BP secondary to an identifiable cause (18). The prevalence is low and conducting routine evaluations in every case of hypertension is neither cost-effective nor time-efficient. However, it's crucial to identify the cause and mechanism of secondary hypertension in selected patient groups. This not only guides toward appropriate treatment but can also lead to the complete resolution of hypertension and discontinuation of antihypertensive medications (19).

Up to 10% of adults with hypertension are found to have secondary hypertension, with prevalence varying by age. Prevalence is highest in children under 12, accounting for 70 to 85 percent, and adults over 65, accounting for around 17% (20). Secondary hypertension is less prevalent in patients aged 19-39, accounting for 10 to 15% percent (21).

Renal parenchymal disease is the leading cause of secondary hypertension overall. Including various renal disorders such as glomerulonephritis, interstitial renal parenchymal disease, polycystic kidney disease, and diabetic nephropathy (22). Over half of patients with renal parenchymal disease have hypertension, and its occurrence rises as renal parenchymal disorders worsen (23). Hypertension exacerbates renal parenchymal disease progression, accelerating renal function decline and increasing the risk of end-stage renal diseases (24).

Hypertension due to renovascular disease is caused by stenosis of renal arteries, which can be both unilateral and bilateral (25). Fibromuscular hyperplasia is the cause of renal artery stenosis in the younger population, especially females, while the older population is found to have renal artery stenosis due to atherosclerosis (26). Other vascular disorders that can lead to hypertension are coarctation of the aorta, arteriovenous fistula, and vasculitis of medium or large-sized arteries (27).

Endocrine disorders with increased hormone secretion can also cause secondary hypertension. The common endocrine disorders responsible for secondary hypertension include Cushing's syndrome, pheochromocytoma and primary aldosteronism, which account for most endocrine hypertension cases (28). Thyroid disorders, primary hyperparathyroidism, congenital adrenal hyperplasia, and acromegaly are infrequent causes of secondary hypertension (29).

Drug-induced hypertension represents a substantial cause of secondary hypertension. Therefore, it is crucial to review patients' medication history. Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs are the most common drugs associated with worsening of BP, because of their extensive use. Other drugs associated with drug-induced hypertension are sodium-containing antacids, cocaine, amphetamine, antidepressants (like TCA and SNRI), appetite suppressants, oral contraceptives, mineralocorticoids, nicotine alcohol and immunosuppressants like cyclosporine (30).

1.3.3 White coat hypertension

White coat hypertension (WCH), also known as isolated clinic hypertension, describes elevated BP measurements in a clinic or office and normal out-of-office BP in individuals who are not receiving antihypertensive treatment (31). WCH describes the difference between elevated office BP and lower home BP, which primarily reflects the heightened response to stress during clinical visits with healthcare professionals (32,33). However, additional factors are also probably involved, as indicated by the inconsistent correlation between office and out-of-office BP differences and the white-coat effect measured directly through beat-to-beat BP recording (34,35).

The prevalence varies between studies, but WCH affects approximately 30% of individuals attending hypertension clinics. It is more prevalent in older patients (>50% in very

old individuals), women, and nonsmokers (6). Prevalence decreases when office BP is based on repeated measurements, or when healthcare professionals are not involved in the measurement (36). The white-coat effect can be seen across all hypertension grades, but the prevalence is highest in grade 1 hypertension.

The academic discourse debates whether WCH should be recognized as a benign condition. Studies indicate that in comparison to persistent hypertension, WCH is associated with lower rates of hypertensive target organ damage (HMOD) and CV events (37). However, patients with WCH show enhanced adrenergic activity, a higher risk of asymptomatic HMOD, and an increased frequency of metabolic risk factors compared to true normotensives (38,39).

To confirm the diagnosis of WCH, repeated BP measurements both in and out of the office should be performed. Lifestyle changes to reduce CV risk and close monitoring are recommended. The impact of treatment with antihypertensive medication in lowering out-of-office BP remains variable (40,41). The decision to initiate drug treatment in WCH patients remains unresolved, although they constitute a significant portion of trials demonstrating the benefits of antihypertensive therapy (42).

1.3.4 Masked hypertension

Masked hypertension (MH) refers to untreated patients with normal office BP readings and elevated out-of-office BP (43). Out of all the hypertensive patients attending hypertension clinics, around 10-20% have MH, with significant prevalence in population-based studies, especially among African American and Asian individuals (43-45).

The optimal approach for MH detection does not exist since it is impractical to screen all individuals with normal office BP. Individuals with a high-normal office BP measurement have a higher probability of MH. MH is more common in men, younger people, alcoholics, physically active individuals, and smokers (46,47). Chronic kidney disease (CKD), diabetes, low levels of HDL cholesterol, obesity, and a family history of hypertension are also associated with increased MH prevalence (46).

MH is associated with an increased risk of HMOD, including left ventricular hypertrophy, reduced kidney function, stiffness of large arteries, and thickness of carotid intima-media (48-51). Recent studies indicate that MH carries a substantially greater risk of CV events compared to normotension, like or slightly lower than sustained hypertension (43,52-54).

Confirmation of an MH diagnosis requires at least a second set of BP measurements both in and out of the office. The efficacy of antihypertensive therapy on MH remains unknown due to the absence of RCT. Lifestyle modifications and follow-up controls are recommended for patients with confirmed MH. In patients with increased CV risk antihypertensive medication should be considered.

1.4 Pathophysiology of hypertension

1.4.2 Intravascular volume

Kidneys are both the cause and target of hypertension; they can cause hypertension by decreased excretion of sodium, SNS overactivity, and excessive renin secretion (55). Sodium is predominantly found in extracellular space and is the main determinant of extracellular fluid regulation (56). The effect of sodium on BP is achieved in combination with chloride, while non-chloride sodium salts have little or no effect on BP. When kidney excretion of sodium can't match up with NaCl intake, the sodium concentration promotes water retention, increasing vascular volume and BP (57).

Sodium can activate several endocrine/paracrine, neural, and vascular mechanisms that can increase arterial pressure, leading to higher urinary sodium excretion to maintain sodium balance. This process, known as "pressure-natriuresis," involves a reduced tubular absorption capacity, increased glomerular filtration rate, and hormonal influences like atrial natriuretic factor (58). Individuals with impaired sodium excretion need a more significant increase in arterial pressure to achieve natriuresis (56).

Hypertension dependent on NaCl may be the outcome of poor renal excretion capacity, either caused by increased mineralocorticoids resulting in higher sodium reabsorption in renal tubules or intrinsic renal disease (59). End-stage renal disease (ESRD) is a severe example of volume-dependent hypertension. Approximately 80% of these individuals can effectively manage vascular volume and hypertension through adequate dialysis. For the remaining 20%, hypertension results from heightened renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system (RAAS) activity, potentially alleviated by pharmacological inhibition of RAAS (56).

1.4.1 Autonomic nervous system

Adrenergic reflexes control short-term BP, while adrenergic function, hormones, and volume regulate long-term arterial pressure. Epinephrine, norepinephrine, and dopamine are essential in CV regulation (56).

Adrenergic receptors are mediated by guanosine nucleotide-binding receptor proteins and intracellular second messengers, affecting their responsiveness to catecholamines (60). Adrenergic receptors are divided into α and β types based on their pharmacology and physiology and further differentiated into $\alpha 1$, $\alpha 2$, $\beta 1$, and $\beta 2$ receptors. $\alpha 1$ receptors induce vasoconstriction and are located in postsynaptic cells in smooth muscles (61). $\alpha 1$ receptor activation in the kidney increases tubular sodium reabsorption. $\alpha 2$ receptors are located on the presynaptic side of postganglionic nerve endings. The catecholamines activate $\alpha 2$ receptors, acting as negative feedback controllers by inhibiting norepinephrine release. $\beta 1$ receptors are localized in the myocardial wall, and activating these receptors stimulates strength and rate of myocardial contraction. The activation of these receptors also stimulates renin release. $\beta 2$ receptors are responsible for smooth muscle relaxation and vasodilatation (56).

Circulating catecholamine levels can impact the amount of tissue adrenoreceptors. Downregulation can be due to sustained catecholamine levels, which explains reduced responsiveness, such as orthostatic hypotension in pheochromocytoma patients (62). On the other hand, chronic reduction in neurotransmitter levels can increase adrenoreceptor numbers, enhancing responsiveness. Adrenergic receptor blockers may cause upregulation, resulting in temporary hypersensitivity upon withdrawal (56). Abrupt withdrawal of antihypertensive drugs, like clonidine, can lead to rebound hypertension due to α 1 receptor upregulation (63).

Arterial baroreceptors, which are located in the aortic arch and the carotid sinus, are stimulated by stretch in the arterial wall, and the firing of these receptors increases with an elevation of arterial BP (64). The baroreceptors then stimulate a decrease in sympathetic outflow, which then decreases HR and arterial pressure. Over time, these baroreflexes adapt to the higher arterial pressure and get a new standard of normal pressure. The baroreflex control of arterial pressure declines with sustained hypertension over time, advanced age, and atherosclerosis (56).

Based on postganglionic nerve activity recordings with microelectrodes inserted into the peroneal nerve in the leg, sympathetic outflow seems to be generally higher in hypertensive individuals than in normotensive individuals (65). Sympathetic nervous system blockers are potent antihypertensive agents, suggesting their role in maintaining elevated arterial pressure (56).

Pheochromocytoma is a clear example of excessive catecholamine production from a tumor, which causes hypertension. Surgical tumor removal or medications like α 1 receptor antagonists can lower BP (56).

1.4.3 Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

The RAAS affects BP regulation, with several effects, including pressure natriuresis, sodium retention, salt sensitivity, endothelial dysfunction, and vasoconstriction, contributing

significantly to the pathogenesis of hypertension (66). The RAAS is found in many organs, but the primary role is maintaining pressure-volume balance in the kidney, where it suppresses perfusion in volume-expanded conditions and sustains perfusion in volume-depleted states.

Renin, an aspartyl protease, and its precursor, prorenin, are enzymatically synthesized and stored in renal juxtaglomerular cells. Most circulatory renin is primarily synthesized in the afferent renal arteriole (67). Prorenin can be directly released into the bloodstream or activated within secretory cells before being secreted as active renin. Three primary factors influence renin secretion: decreased NaCl transport in the distal thick ascending limb of the loop of Henle, reduced stretch or pressure in the renal afferent arteriole, and SNS stimulation via β 1 adrenoreceptors (68).

When released into the circulation, active renin cleaves angiotensinogen into an inactive decapeptide, angiotensin I. The inactive decapeptide is then cleaved into the active octapeptide, angiotensin II, by the angiotensin-converting enzyme (ACE), which is primarily located in the pulmonary circulation but not exclusively (69). ACE also cleaves other peptides, including the vasodilator bradykinin, which it inactivates. Angiotensin II primarily acts through angiotensin II type 1 receptors (AT1R) to act as a potent vasopressor, stimulate aldosterone secretion from the adrenal zona glomerulosa, and promote CV remodeling by utilizing various signal transduction cascades. The angiotensin II type 2 receptor (AT2R) conversely instigates vasodilation, enhances sodium excretion, and inhibits matrix formation and cell growth. AT1R blockade leads to increased AT2R activity (56).

Clear examples of renin-dependent hypertension are renin-secreting tumors. In the kidney, these tumors include Wilms tumor and, more commonly, benign hemangiopericytomas of the juxtaglomerular apparatus (70). Renin-producing carcinomas have also been observed in the adrenal glands, lung, pancreas, liver, and colon. Renovascular hypertension is another form of hypertension mediated by renin. Another renin-mediated form of hypertension is when there is obstruction of the renal artery, which reduces renal perfusion pressure, thereby increasing renin secretion. Over time, this hypertension may become less dependent on renin, possibly a consequence of secondary renal damage (56).

Not all cases of increased RAAS activity are associated with hypertension. The body may maintain arterial pressure and volume balance through heightened activity in this axis when faced with a low-sodium diet or volume contraction (56).



Figure 1 Renin-angiotensin-aldosterone axis. AT1 receptor: angiotensin 1 receptor. AT2 receptor: angiotensin 2 receptor. ACE kininase 2: angiotensin converting enzyme kininase 2. Source: Harrison TR, Resnick WR, Wintrobe MM. Harrison's principles of Internal Medicine. 21. edition. London: McGraw-Hill; 2022.

1.4.4 Natriuretic peptides

Brain natriuretic peptide (BNP) and atrial natriuretic peptide (ANP) play crucial roles in salt sensitivity and hypertension. These peptides exhibit potent vasodilatory and natriuretic effects that are crucial for maintaining sodium balance and BP regulation during sodium loading (71,72). Stretching of ventricular and atrial walls triggers the release of BNP and ANP, resulting in systemic vasodilation and reduced plasma volume, which lowers the BP (73). Natriuretic peptides increase GFR by vasoconstriction of efferent arterioles in volume-expanded states and inhibit renal sodium reabsorption with both indirect and direct effects. Indirectly by inhibition of aldosterone release, and directly by decreasing the activity of Na+/K+-ATPase and the sodium-glucose cotransporter in the proximal tubule (72). Natriuretic peptide deficiency contributes to hypertension. The atrial natriuretic peptideconverting enzyme, known as Corin, is mainly found in the heart, and it converts the ANP and BNP precursors into their active forms. Deficiency of Corin is associated with salt-sensitive hypertension, CHF, diabetes mellitus (DM), and volume overload (74). Natriuretic peptides possess therapeutic potential for various conditions that collectively increase the risk of DM and CVD (75).

1.4.5 Endothelium of blood vessels

The endothelium is crucial in the regulation of vascular tone and salt sensitivity through nitric oxide (NO) signal transduction pathways (76). Endothelial cells continuously release NO in response to flow-induced shear stress, which activates guanylate cyclase and intracellular cyclic GMP, leading to vascular relaxation (77). The inhibition of endothelial NO synthase interrupts NO synthesis, leading to elevated BP in humans and animals (78).

Endothelin 1 (ET1) is a potent vasoconstrictor that acts primarily on ETA receptors in vascular smooth muscle cells (79). Endothelial cells secrete other vaso-regulatory substances, including vasoconstrictors, such as prostaglandin A2, angiotensin 2, thromboxane A2, and vasodilators, such as prostacyclin. Other substances have vasodilating properties, such as Glucagon-like peptide 1 (GLP1), substance P, adrenomedullin, and calcitonin gene-related substances (80-82). Together with ET1 and NO, all these substances establish the endothelial effect on vascular tone and BP (79, 82-84).

Endothelial dysfunction is an essential component in the pathogenesis of hypertension. The children of parents with hypertension often exhibit compromised endothelium-dependent vasodilation, suggesting a genetic influence on endothelial dysfunction (85). In persistent hypertension, endothelial dysfunction is associated with both heightened oxidative stress and direct pressure-induced damage. Various enzyme systems generate reactive oxygen species, such as xanthine oxidase, NADPH oxidase, cyclooxygenase, and superoxide dismutase (85,86). NO bioavailability is reduced by the binding of superoxide anions, and this is a crucial factor that connects oxidative stress to hypertension and endothelial dysfunction (85). NADPH oxidase plays an essential role in the creation of oxidative stress, and several factors increase NADPH oxidase activity, such as ET1, angiotensin 2, noradrenaline, uric acid, tobacco smoking, and free fatty acids (83).

1.5 Hypertension-mediated organ damage (HMOD)

1.5.1 HMOD in the CV system

The most common cause of death in patients with hypertension is CVD (56). The heart is directly exposed to increased load in hypertension, leading to functional and structural modifications that in the initial phase are asymptomatic, but in the later phases are strong risk factors for subsequent CV events, such as atherosclerotic coronary artery disease, left ventricular hypertrophy, congestive heart failure (CHF), increased atrial size, different cardiac arrhythmias, and sudden death (6). In clinical settings, a comprehensive evaluation utilizing electrocardiography (ECG) and available imaging modalities is essential to assess all parameters indicative of hypertensive heart disease (6). Therapeutic management of hypertension, both pharmacological and non-pharmacological, can significantly decrease the risk of CV events (56).

In hypertensive patients, diastolic dysfunction is common, and about one-third of patients with CHF have an abnormal diastolic function but normal systolic function. Diastolic dysfunction is exacerbated by left ventricular hypertrophy and is most accurately assessed by cardiac catheterization (87). There are several noninvasive alternatives, such as transthoracic echocardiography and transesophageal echocardiography (56).

1.5.2 HMOD in the kidneys

After diabetes, hypertension is the most significant cause of CKD (6). The risk of kidney damage appears to have a stronger correlation with systolic than diastolic BP. Additionally, black men have a higher risk of developing ESRD at any degree of hypertension than white men (56).

Atherosclerotic vascular lesions associated with hypertension predominantly alter preglomerular arterioles, leading to ischemic changes in glomerular and postglomerular structures (56). Glomerular hyperperfusion can also result in direct damage to the glomerular capillaries. Progression in renal injury reduces autoregulation of blood flow, which means that the defense mechanism against renal damage gets weaker, and renal damage progresses faster (88). This can create a harmful cycle of renal damage, increased glomerular filtration, worsening hypertension, loss of nephrons, and further renal injury (56).

Renal function deterioration can be discovered through routine laboratory assessments, which estimate the glomerular filtration rate (GFR) according to serum creatinine levels (89). Serum creatinine is not sensitive enough to estimate renal impairment, as a substantial decrease in renal function may manifest before the elevation of serum creatinine levels. The classification

of CKD is based on eGFR, determined by the 2009 CKD-Epidemiology Collaboration formula, and the level of albuminuria (89,90,91). Preferably early in the morning, spot urine samples are used to measure the albumin: creatinine ratio (ACR). Based on albuminuria and reduced renal function, HMOD in the kidney can be diagnosed. Albuminuria may not be detectable in hypertension-induced kidney disease until GFR reduction has occurred (89).

1.5.3 HMOD in the brain

Elevated BP is a significant contributing factor to acute cerebrovascular events, including intracranial hemorrhage, transient ischemic attack (TIA), and ischemic stroke. Persistent arterial hypertension exerts an accumulative impact on cerebrovascular damage, such as white matter lesions, microbleeds, microinfarcts, atherosclerosis, silent cerebral infarcts, and cerebral atrophy (92).

Hypertension induces pathological changes in cerebral microvessels that impair their structure, function, and network architecture, leading to cerebral microbleeds and lacunar infarctions in the deep white matter, pons, and basal ganglia. It is presumed that they originate from the occlusion of the single small arteries that supply blood to subcortical regions of the brain. Hypertension is also associated with white matter lesions characterized by abnormal myelination, related to an elevated risk of cerebral stroke and cognitive impairment, including dementia (93,94).

Cerebral blood flow remains constant across a broad spectrum of arterial pressures (the mean arterial pressure ranges from 50 to 150 mmHg) due to the process known as autoregulation of blood flow. In individuals with malignant hypertension, the failure of autoregulation at the upper-pressure limit leads to vasodilation and excessive blood flow, resulting in encephalopathy (56). Typical symptoms are nausea and vomiting (often forceful), intense headaches, changes in mental status, and focal neurological signs. Untreated, hypertensive encephalopathy can rapidly progress to seizures, coma, and death within a few hours. It's crucial to differentiate hypertensive encephalopathy from other neurological conditions associated with hypertension, such as hemorrhagic or thrombotic stroke, cerebral ischemia, seizure disorders, pseudotumor cerebri, mass lesions, meningitis, delirium tremens, acute intermittent porphyria, uremic encephalopathy, and traumatic or chemical brain injury (56).

1.5.4 HMOD in the eye

Hypertensive retinopathy is classified according to fundoscopy, which detects moderate to severe retinal lesions such as microaneurysms, hemorrhages, papilledema, macula edema, and cotton wool spots (95). Milder retinal damage, such as general or focal arteriolar narrowing and arteriovenous nicking, has less predictive value and is less specific compared to the more severe retinal lesions (96). Hypertension is also a significant risk factor for ischemic optic neuropathy and occlusion of retinal arteries and veins (97).

1.6 BP measurement and monitoring

1.6.1 Standard office BP measurement

Standard or conventional office BP measurement (OBPM) is the most researched method for evaluating BP and is the most used method for the establishment of diagnosis, BP thresholds, BP classifications, CV risk factors, therapeutic interventions, and management (2,98,99). Despite its prevalent usage, the use of OBPM occasionally leads to overestimation of BP, overdiagnosis, and unnecessary treatment (2,98,100).

The BP monitor's cuff should be placed on a bare arm. Suitable cuff size is crucial for precise BP measurement, and needs to be chosen according to the circumference of the individual's arm. A cuff that is bigger than necessary often underestimates BP, whereas a smaller cuff overestimates it (101). A validated electronic wrist-cuff device may be used if BP cannot be measured using an upper arm cuff device, but as it yields less accurate results, its use is not advocated (98).

Hypertension diagnosis should not be based on one single office visit but at least two separate visits with a minimum of two positive readings each time, except for patients at high risk based on the existence of CVD or HMOD and patients with BP that suggests grade 3 hypertension (180/110 mmHg) (98,102). In elderly patients (>65 years of age), patients with diabetes, treated hypertensive patients, patients with signs that point to postural hypotension, or patients with neurodegenerative disorders, BP should be monitored 1 and 3 minutes after reaching an upright position for detection of orthostatic hypotension (98). During the initial office visit, BP measurement should be measured in both arms, preferably with electronic devices capable of simultaneous measurement. An SBP difference between the arms of >10 mmHg must be confirmed by repeated measurements, and if the difference is confirmed, the following measurements should be taken on the arm with the higher BP, as it more accurately reflects arterial BP (103). Furthermore, a persistent SBP difference between arms exceeding 15 to 20 mmHg may indicate atherosclerosis and should be further investigated (104).

Unattended office BP measurement is performed automatically when the patient is alone in the examination room without any healthcare personnel present (105). Available data show that this quiet environment and the absence of variable response to medical personnel or the white coat effect, lead to reduced BP compared to standard OBPM (104,106,107). However, this method of monitoring is not so well researched compared to standard OBPM, and this method is more time-consuming, which can be difficult to accommodate due to the large number of patients (104). Considering these factors, the most practical and reasonable recommendation for BP measurement in clinical practice seems to be standard attended OBPM (6).

1.6.2 Home blood pressure monitoring (HBPM)

HBPM allows patients to measure their BP in their usual environment, away from the office. HBPM has a fairly low cost, which is most often covered by patients themselves and is well accepted for long-term use (108). Compared to office measurements, HBPM data are more reproducible and offer better predictions for various health outcomes, such as CV events, HMOD, and mortality (109-112).

HBPM should be performed following an established protocol using automated upper arm cuff devices (108). Preferably, devices equipped with automated storage that calculates the average and have the possibility to connect with PCs, mobile phones, or some other way of data transfer so it easily can be evaluated by the physician (108). It is important that the patients are informed about correct measurement conditions and posture, which are like those outlined for OBPM (108). The white-coat effect is absent or almost absent in HBPM on most individuals, so the readings are generally lower than in OBPM, so the diagnosis threshold for hypertension in HBPM is defined as \geq 135/85 mmHg, corresponding to an office BP of \geq 140/90 mmHg. (113,114, Figure 2).

BP values measured at home should be collected ahead of planned office visits or when substantial changes in BP are assumed. BP should be optimally measured for 7 days, and never less than 3 days. Two measurements about 1 minute apart in the morning (before taking medication, if applicable) and two measurements in the evening (108,115,116). HBPM enhances the persistence of BP control over extended periods of treatment (117).

HBPM has its limitations, such as the need for patient training, the frequent use of inaccurate devices, and the potential to induce anxiety, leading to excessive measurements and subsequent patient-initiated treatment adjustments (108). The lack of studies on HBPM-guided treatment and outcomes is one of the most important limitations of this monitoring technique.

1.6.3 Ambulatory blood pressure monitoring (ABPM)

ABPM is a BP monitoring method that includes multiple readings taken using a fully automated device on a continuous basis for 24 hours in conditions reflecting daily activities and sleep. During ABPM, patients are instructed to write down their symptoms, activities, medication intake times, meals, and sleep times (98).

In similarity to HBPM, it has an advantage over OBPM with a better prediction for various health outcomes, such as CV events, HMOD, and mortality, and the ability to identify MH and WCH (118-120). Additionally, an important advantage of ABPM is the measurement of the dipping status, which is the magnitude of nocturnal changes in BP, that has significant clinical relevance because night BP values have been found to predict events more accurately than daytime BP values (121,122). However, ABPM is not widely available in general practice settings, it is relatively expensive, unsuitable for frequent use, and may cause discomfort for patients (98).

As in HBPM, the white coat effect is absent, and the ambulatory BP values are generally lower compared to the office BP values. The diagnostic threshold for hypertension diagnosis is defined as \geq 130/80 mmHg over 24 hours, with an awake mean of \geq 130/80 mmHg and a mean during sleep time of \geq 120/70 mmHg (6, figure 2).

Method	Systolic(mmHg)		Diastolic(mmHg)	
Office BP	≥ 140	and/or	\geq 90	
Ambulatory BP				
Awake mean	≥ 135	and/or	≥ 85	
Asleep mean	≥ 120	and/or	≥ 70	
24h mean	\geq 130	and/or	≥ 80	
Home BP mean	\geq 135	and/or	≥ 85	

Table 2. Definitions of hypertension according to the correspondence of home and ambulatoryBP values with office BP.

BP: blood pressure. Source: Mancia G, Kreutz R, Brunström M, Burnier M, Grassi G, Januszewicz A, et al. 2023 ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. Endorsed by the International Society of Hypertension (ISH) and the European Renal Association (ERA). 2024:1;42(1):194.

1.7 Management of hypertension

1.7.1 Nonpharmacological treatment

Lifestyle modifications are advised for all individuals with hypertension. The most efficient interventions include physical exercise, weight loss, and dietary changes. These modifications are proven to lower systolic BP and are especially recommended for patients with hypertension and obesity (123).

1.7.1.1 Physical activity

Clinical trials conducted with hypertensive patients revealed that consistent endurance training, ranging from moderate to high intensity, led to an average reduction in BP of 11/5 mmHg (124). Workouts that were completed at least thrice weekly, lasting 40-60 minutes, had the best effects on BP (124). Studies with isometric exercise demonstrated reduced BP comparable to that of aerobic exercise. Additionally, a meta-analysis of 64 controlled studies has shown a reduction of BP with dynamic resistance training that is more significant or similar to aerobic exercise (125).

1.7.1.2 Weight loss

Excess body fat typically increases BP in individuals predisposed to hypertension. Obese hypertensive patients require higher amounts of antihypertensive medications to regulate their BP effectively and are at an increased risk of developing resistance to such treatments (126). A meta-analysis revealed that any form of weight loss results in an average reduction of 2.7 mmHg in SBP and 1.3 mmHg in DBP (127). Physical exercise and hypocaloric diets are recommended for all patients with hypertension and obesity. Although weight reduction is typically observed, the extent of weight loss tends to be minimal, and many patients subsequently experience weight regain. (128).

1.7.1.3 Reduced salt intake

To maintain metabolic balance, salt intake should match the amount lost, with 5g per day being sufficient under normal conditions, as recommended by the WHO (129). However, most countries have a daily dietary salt intake of about 9-12g. The American Heart Association suggests an even lower intake of 2.3g daily, while the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension recommend 5-6g daily (130, 6). Research, including randomized controlled trials, has shown that reducing sodium intake lowers BP, especially in those with hypertension (131). The DASH-sodium trial demonstrated significant BP reductions

with lower sodium intake, mainly when initial intake was below 2.3g daily (132). Sodium reduction benefits individuals with and without hypertension and can prevent the development of hypertension, improve the control of existing hypertension, and potentially reduce the need for medication (133, 134). Evidence strongly supports recommendations to reduce salt intake (135,136). Since over 75% of dietary salt comes from processed foods, successful reduction strategies must involve collaboration with food manufacturers and restaurants. Japan, Finland, and the United Kingdom have significantly reduced population salt intake (137).

1.7.1.4 Increased potassium intake

A daily potassium intake of 4.7 grams is average for healthy individuals with normal kidney function, and higher levels generally are not associated with a greater risk since individuals with healthy kidneys can efficiently excrete excess potassium. Increased levels of potassium intake have been shown to decrease BP in individuals with both high and low baseline potassium intake (138, 139).

The impact of potassium on BP is influenced by salt intake, with more significant reductions observed when potassium intake is increased alongside lower salt consumption (140). Therefore, the optimal approach is increasing potassium and decreasing sodium intake (141).

The best way to boost potassium levels is by eating more potassium-rich vegetables and fruits rather than relying on supplements. Keeping potassium intake below 4.7 grams daily is recommended for those with impaired kidney function (142).

1.7.2 Pharmacological treatment

Over the past several decades, antihypertensive pharmacotherapy has advanced significantly due to the creation of various classes of antihypertensive drugs and extensive outcome trials demonstrating their positive effects on CVD (143). Medical practitioners now have access to a wide range of antihypertensive medications from multiple drug categories, as well as numerous fixed-dose combinations.

1.7.2.1 Blockers of the renin-angiotensin-aldosterone system

Among RAAS inhibitors, angiotensin II receptor blockers (ARBs) and ACE inhibitors are considered first-line treatments for hypertension. Other RAAS-targeting drugs, like antagonists of mineralocorticoid receptors and direct renin inhibitors, are typically reserved for secondary use due to limited clinical evidence substantiating their efficacy as primary treatments (123). ARBs and ACE inhibitors have been comprehensively studied in extensive hypertension trials (144).

Both classes have shown improved outcomes in patients with diabetic nephropathy or heart failure with reduced ejection fraction (HFrEF), making them excellent choices for these conditions. ARBs and ACE inhibitors are similarly effective in reducing CVD risk (145). They may improve glucose metabolism, making them suitable for younger patients and those at risk for type 2 DM, including those with metabolic syndrome (146).

ACE inhibitors are usually tolerated well and only need to be taken once daily, but they can cause reduced renal function, cough, hyperkalemia, and angioedema. The risk of angioedema is significantly higher in Black individuals and in patients using both DPP-4 inhibitors and ACE inhibitors (147, 148). ARBs can also cause kidney function deterioration and hyperkalemia but usually do not cause angioedema or cough.

1.7.2.2 Calcium-channel blockers

Calcium channel blockers (CCBs) are a class of drugs widely used for hypertension management, with two main categories: vascular-selective dihydropyridine (DHP) and non-dihydropyridine (non-DHP) calcium channel blockers.

CCBs exert their effect by binding and blocking L-channels in cardiac and vascular smooth muscle cells. DHP-CCBs, like amlodipine, primarily cause vasodilation, decreasing peripheral resistance and reducing BP (123).

There are differences between non-DHP- and DHP-CCBs regarding side effects and tolerability. While DHP-CCBs are used to control elevated BP in patients with HFrEF, caution is warranted due to their negative inotropic effect (6). Peripheral edema is a frequent side effect observed in patients taking DHP-CCBs, caused by peripheral vasodilation rather than reduced renal function or CHF. One advantage of DHP-CCBs is their compatibility with all first-line hypertension medications, and they exhibit a low potential for drug interactions (123).

Non-DHP-CCBs such as diltiazem and verapamil primarily target the heart but also contribute to lowering BP (6). Their inhibition of cardiac calcium channels reduces heart rate and cardiac contractility (149). Consequently, due to this negative inotropic effect, non-DHP-CCBs are not recommended for use in patients with HFrEF (6).

Meta-analysis comparing DHP-CCBs and non-DHP-CCBs with other medications has shown no significant differences in effectiveness (150). It is important to note that all CCBs can potentially cause or exacerbate constipation, particularly in older individuals (151). Additionally, both DHP-CCBs and non-DHP-CCBs inhibit the metabolizing enzyme cytochrome P450 3A4, raising the possibility of drug-drug interaction that may compromise the safety and tolerability of other medications (152).

1.7.2.3 Diuretics

Thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics are the most used diuretics in hypertension management, and the difference lies in their chemical structure. Thiazide-type agent, such as hydrochlorothiazide, contains a benzothiadiazine ring whereas thiazide-like diuretics, such as chlorthalidone, indapamide, do not possess this ring (123). Regardless of the chemical structure, both function by inhibiting the sodium-chloride co-transporter in renal tubules. Both subclasses have been critical components of pharmacological antihypertensive treatment since the initial trials demonstrated the morbidity benefits of antihypertensive therapeutics (153).

Randomized controlled trials (RCTs) and meta-analyses (154-157) have consistently demonstrated the effectiveness of thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics in reducing CV morbidity and mortality. Thiazide-like diuretics, such as chlorthalidone and indapamide, are more potent drugs and have a longer duration of action than thiazide-type diuretic hydrochlorothiazide. However, some studies have indicated that chlortalidone may have a broader side-effect profile (6).

The diuretic doses have been significantly reduced over the years to achieve an improved risk-benefit profile for diuretics. Thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics can worsen glucose metabolism and, by that, increase the risk of DM. The impact of this metabolic action on long-term CVD risk remains uncertain (158). Thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics also promote natriuresis, and drug-related electrolyte disturbances are consequential adverse effects. Hyponatremia may result in confusion, seizures, and coma, posing life-threatening risks for older patients. Meanwhile, hypokalemia can induce muscle weakness and cardiac arrhythmias (123).

Thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics are considered less effective for hypertension in patients with reduced kidney function. Therefore, while loop diuretics, such as furosemide and bumetanide, are typically not recommended for uncomplicated hypertension, they are the option of choice for patients with CKD stages 4 and 5, and for those with severe fluid overload or retention, such as in CHF or nephrotic syndrome (6).

Potassium-sparing diuretics, such as amiloride, directly inhibit epithelial sodium channels on the luminal side of the late distal tubule and collecting duct. Potassium-sparing diuretic are used in edematous states and combined with loop diuretics or thiazide and thiazide-like diuretics to treat hypertension or CHF (6).

1.7.2.4 Beta-blockers

Beta-blockers (BBs) can lead to a reduction in BP by affecting various physiological pathways, including slowing heart rate, decreasing cardiac output, reducing sympathetic nervous system activity, and inhibiting renin release (159). BBs show several pharmacological differences across generations. Randomized controlled trials and meta-analyses have consistently demonstrated the efficacy of both first- and second-generation BBs, such as propranolol, atenolol, and metoprolol, in mitigating the risk of stroke, CHF, and significant CV outcomes in patients with hypertension (6).

Second-generation BBs are characterized by their beta1-selectivity and exhibit direct vasodilating properties. Third-generation BBs, exemplified by carvedilol and nebivolol, also demonstrate a direct vasodilating effect. Despite their vasodilating effect, BBs are primarily recommended in the treatment of specific indications such as CHF, atrial fibrillation, for young hypertensive women of childbearing age, as well as in hypertensive emergencies (160,161).

However, compared to other first-line antihypertensive medications, BBs are considered less effective (162). They are not typically initiated as initial therapy for uncomplicated essential hypertension due to the absence of evidence indicating a reduction in hypertension-related mortality (163).

Beta-blockers may induce bronchial obstruction in asthmatics. Additionally, BBs should not be administered concomitantly with non-DHP CCBs, which similarly reduce sinus node rate (123). Furthermore, BBs have been associated with an increased risk of new-onset DM, particularly in those with metabolic syndrome (6).

1.8 Sleep quality and hypertension

Healthcare research on sleep quality has become a substantial point of interest (164). Sleep disturbance can be a significant symptom of multiple causes, such as obstructive sleep apnea (OSA), and unhealthy sleep behaviors, such as short sleep duration. Among adults in the US, more than one-third sleep less than 7 hours per night, which is the minimum recommendation (165,166). Over 62% of shift workers, who make up 25% of workers in the US, sleep less than 7 hours per day (167,168). The prevalence of OSA is approximately 26% in adults aged 30 to 70 years, and the incidence rates vary according to sex, age, and BMI (169,170).

OSA, shift work, and short sleep duration are all associated with an increased risk of hypertension (171,172). Although evidence connects short sleep and shift work to hypertension,

they are not included as risk factors in hypertension guidelines, and their underlying mechanisms remain unclear, while OSA is considered a secondary cause of hypertension (173).

Strong epidemiological evidence from a 2016 American Heart Association scientific statement concluded that short sleep duration (≤ 5 , ≤ 6 , or ≤ 7 hours) increases the risk of hypertension (174). Intervention studies assessing repeated sleep restriction and sleep deprivation demonstrate that prolonged mild sleep restriction leads to higher BP over time, independent of psychological stressors (175).

Shift work has been linked with CVD mortality and morbidity (176). Multiple studies have provided evidence supporting the hypothesis that shift work raises the risk of hypertension (177-180). A meta-analysis conducted in 2017 revealed a 31% higher likelihood of hypertension in cohort studies and a 10% greater probability of hypertension in cross-sectional studies among shift workers (181). A cohort study from 2019 involving workers in manufacturing facilities assessed the occurrence of hypertension in people working shifts and revealed that workers who worked mostly night shifts and frequent rotations faced a four-fold higher risk of hypertension compared to those not working night shifts (180)

Sex and ethnic differences are also essential to consider in risk evaluation. Women may be more susceptible, especially in young adulthood. A meta-analysis showed that women who sleep ≤ 5 or ≤ 6 hours have a 36% higher risk of hypertension (182). Another meta-analysis showed a 68% increased risk of hypertension in women sleeping ≤ 5 hours compared to women sleeping ≤ 7 hours, and no results for men were observed (182). However, the Spanish Vitoria sleep cohort, including over 1000 individuals between 30 and 70 years, showed that there were no differences in risk based on gender (183).

Studies such as the National Health Interview Survey indicate that white adults are 41% less likely than black adults to report inadequate sleep (184). Objective data from the Chicago Area Sleep Study shows that white adults sleep approximately 48 minutes more than black adults (185). Shift work also poses a greater hypertension risk for Black adults, with rotating night shifts associated with an 81% higher risk in studies like the Nurses' Health Study (186). Additionally, Black women working night shifts are more prone to exhibit abnormal BP patterns while sleeping compared to women of other racial backgrounds (182). Furthermore, racial and ethnic disparities exist in the association between hypertension and OSA as well, demonstrated in the 2007-2008 National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, in which OSA was associated with increased likelihood of hypertension among Whites and Hispanics, but not Blacks (187).

1.8.1 Obstructive sleep apnea

Obstructive sleep apnea (OSA) represents the most prevalent sleep-related breathing disorder, characterized by upper airway obstruction due to pharyngeal muscle collapse during sleep, resulting in hypopnea or apnea events (188). OSA is associated with reduced oxygen saturation during sleep, sleep disruption, and sleepiness during daytime, and significantly impacts overall quality of life (189-191). OSA is not only a sleep disorder, but it is also associated with multiple serious conditions such as hypertension, diabetes, stroke, coronary artery disease and overall increased mortality rate (192).

OSA and inadequate sleep duration exerts pathophysiological effects on the CV system and may increase the risk of hypertension through various physiological mechanisms, such as hormonal imbalance, disturbed autonomic balance, chronic intermittent hypoxia, inflammation, and oxidative stress collectively leading to vascular endothelial dysfunction followed by hypertension (193-195).

A meta-analysis from 2018 comprising 26 studies indicated that OSA correlates with an approximately threefold increase in the likelihood of resistant hypertension. Moreover, mild, moderate, and severe OSA were linked to an 18%, 32%, and 56% higher risk of hypertension, respectively (196). Additionally, hypertensive patients with OSA are at increased risk of progressing into resistant hypertension, characterized by hypertension, despite concurrent use of three different antihypertensive classes (195).

The severity of obstructive sleep apnea is typically classified by the number of sleeprelated obstructive breathing events, and the most used is Apnea-Hypopnea Index (AHI) (197). Higher AHI indicates greater OSA severity and correlates with higher morning and evening BP (182).

In a 2019 meta-analysis involving 1562 patients with obstructive sleep apnea, 59.1% were found to have had non-dripping BP (198). Comparatively, patients with OSA had a 47% higher odds of non-dipping BP than controls, while moderate to severe OSA was associated with 67% increased odds of experiencing non-dipping BP (199).

In a clinical study of 100 patients with hypertension revealed that 10.5% of dippers and 43.5% of non-dippers had an AHI \geq 15, indicating moderate to severe OSA (200). AHI was found to predict the presence of OSA among patients with non-dipping BP (201).

In the management of OSA, treatments such as continuous positive airway pressure (CPAP) and mandibular advancement devices (MAD) have been linked to decreased BP, potentially reducing the risk of CVD (202,203).

2. OBJECTIVES

The study's main aim was to analyze if there is a difference in daytime sleepiness and sleep quality between patients with primary hypertension and healthy controls.

In addition, we aimed to evaluate if there is a potential correlation between poorer sleep quality and higher mean arterial pressure (MAP) among hypertensive patients.

Hypotheses

- 1. Epworth sleepiness scale (ESS) will be slightly higher among patients with primary hypertension than healthy controls.
- 2. Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) will also be slightly higher in patients with primary hypertension than in healthy controls.
- Patients with primary hypertension and at the highest tertile of PSQI will have a higher 24h MAP compared to patients with primary hypertension and with lower tertile of PSQI.

3. SUBJECTS AND METHODS

3.1 Study design

The present research was conducted as a cross-sectional study at the Department of Pathophysiology, University of Split School of Medicine, Split, Croatia. The Ethical Committee of the University of Split School of Medicine approved the study in alignment with the principles outlined in the Declaration of Helsinki. The included participants were informed about the procedures before enrollment, and all participants provided informed consent before enrollment.

3.2 Subjects

Of a total of 98 participants, 48 were diagnosed with primary hypertension, and the remaining 50 served as healthy controls.

Inclusion criteria included: (1) age between 40 and 70 years; (2) Grade 1 or Grade 2 hypertension, as defined by the European Society of Cardiology guidelines); (3) BMI ranging from 18.5 to 35 kg/m^2 (204).

Exclusion criteria included: (1) presence of any form of secondary hypertension; (2) Use of any antihypertensive treatment other than ACE inhibitors, CCBs, or diuretics; (3) smoking; (4) consumption of cannabidiol-containing supplements; (5) presence of chronic conditions, including HF, malignancy, liver cirrhosis, DM, CKD, and epilepsy (6) presence of significant psychiatric disorders.

3.3 Study protocol

The visit included a comprehensive set of evaluations, such as blood sampling, bioimpedance analysis, anthropometric measurements, office BP, ambulatory BP measurement, and completing various surveys.

Participants were equipped with the Schiller BR-102 plus PWA 24-hour ambulatory BP measurement system (Schiller AG, Baar, Switzerland) to continuously monitor BP outside the laboratory. The device was programmed to record BP readings every 30 minutes during the day (08:00 - 23:00) and every hour during the night (23:00 - 08:00). Casadei method was used to interpret the results.

Venous blood samples were collected from each participant's antecubital vein, after a 12-hour fasting period. Blood analyses were conducted in a certified institutional biochemical laboratory following standard operating procedures. The laboratory analysts performing the analyses were blinded to the group allocation of the study participants.

3.4 Surveys

The extent of daytime sleepiness was evaluated using the ESS, which consists of eight questions that measure the probability of falling asleep in various daily settings. For each situation, the respondent rates their probability of falling asleep on a scale from 0 to 3, where 0 indicates no sleepiness, and 3 indicates a high chance of sleepiness (205). The responses to each of the 8 questions are then summed to produce a total score ranging from 0 to 24, and the interpretation of this score will indicate the level of daytime sleepiness. A score exceeding 10 is indicative of excessive sleepiness. ESS was initially used in patients with OSA and is now the most used survey to assess daytime sleepiness in various sleep-related problems (206).

The PSQI is a validated questionnaire to assess sleep quality and disturbances over one month in adults. The PSQI score is based on seven components (subjective sleep quality, sleep duration, sleep latency, sleep disturbances, habitual sleep efficiency, daytime dysfunction, and use of sleep medication), with each component rated on a scale from 0 (no difficulty) to 3 (severe difficulty). The PSQI provides a score ranging from 0 to 21, with higher scores indicating poorer sleep quality. The PSQI is widely used in clinical and research settings and aids in diagnosing sleep disorders and monitoring treatment efficacy (207).

3.5 Statistical analysis

The statistical analysis and graphical representation were conducted using SigmaPlot (Systat Software Inc., San Jose, CA, USA) and MedCalc Statistical Software version 20.113 (MedCalc Software Ltd., Ostend, Belgium). Quantitative variables were expressed as mean \pm standard deviation (SD), whereas categorical variables were reported as a whole number (n) and percentage (%). For the estimation of the normality of data distribution, we used the Shapiro-Wilk test. Chi-squared (χ 2) test was used to compare categorical variables, whereas the Student's t-test for independent samples and one-way ANOVA with *post hoc* Tukey test was employed for comparing quantitative variables. Statistical significance was set at 0.05 for all analyses.

4. RESULTS

Baseline characteristics of patients are delineated in detail in Table 3. Average 24h mean arterial pressure was higher in a population of patients with primary hypertension (P < 0.001). In the rest of the participants' baseline characteristics no significant differences were found between patients with primary hypertension and healthy controls.

	Primary hypertension	Healthy controls		
Parameter	(n = 48)	(n = 50)	<i>P</i> *	
Age, years	57.6 ± 9.4	56.6 ± 9.8	0.552	
Male sex, n (%)	25 (52.1)	27 (54)	0.578	
Body mass index, kg/m ²	27.4 ± 3.1	27.1 ± 3.4	0.662	
24h MAP, mmHg	105.3 ± 11.8	92.6 ± 10.9	<0.001	
Socioeconomic status, n (%)				
Low	4 (8.3)	5 (10)		
Average	35 (72.9)	36 (72)	0.762	
Above average	9 (18.8)	9 (18)		
Employment status, n (%)				
Employed	32 (66.7)	35 (70)		
Unemployed	8 (16.7)	8 (16)	0.645	
Retired	8 (16.7)	7 (14)		
Education, n (%)				
Elementary school	1 (2.1)	0 (0)		
High school	25 (52.1)	26 (52)	0.787	
Higher education	22 (45.8)	24 (48)		
FPG, mmol/L	5.2 ± 1.1	5.3 ± 0.9	0.107	
LDL-C, mmol/L	3.4 ± 1.1	3.5 ± 1.2	0.423	

Table 3. Baseline characteristics of the study population.

FPG: Fasting plasma glucose; MAP: mean arterial pressure; LDL-C: low-density lipoprotein cholesterol. * Student's t-test or chi squared test

No differences were found in ESS score between patients with primary hypertension and healthy controls (6.1 ± 2.5 vs. 5.8 ± 2.6 , P = 0.624) (Figure 2).



Figure 2. Comparison in ESS score between patients with primary hypertension and healthy controls. ESS: Epworth Sleepiness Scale. Data presented as mean \pm SD. * Student's t-test

Similarly, PSQI score did not differ between patients with primary hypertension and healthy controls (6.2 ± 2.1 vs. 6.0 ± 2.4 , P = 0.767) (Figure 3).



Figure 3. Comparison in PSQI score between patients with primary hypertension and healthy controls. PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Data presented as mean \pm SD. * Student's t-test

In a population of patients with primary hypertension, patients at the highest quartile of PSQI had significantly higher average 24h mean arterial pressure in comparison to patients with lower tertile of PSQI (106.5 ± 11.2 vs. 102.3 ± 11.4 vs. 100.4 ± 11.2 mmHg, P < 0.001) (Figure 4).



P < 0.001*

Figure 4. Comparison in average 24h mean arterial pressures with respect to PSQI score tertiles in patients with primary hypertension. PSQI: Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index. Data presented as mean \pm SD.*one-way ANOVA with *post hoc* Tukey test

5. DISCUSSION

In the present study, we tried to elaborate on whether increased daytime sleepiness and reduced sleep quality are more prevalent in the population with primary hypertension. The study included a total of 98 participants, 48 of which were diagnosed with primary hypertension, and the remaining 50 were healthy controls. Comparing the baseline parameters, such as age, sex, BMI, socioeconomic status, employment status, education level, fasting plasma glucose, and low-density lipoprotein cholesterol, no differences were found between the two groups. The only exception was the 24h MAP, which was significantly higher in the primary hypertension group compared to the healthy controls. The study analysis revealed no significant differences in ESS scores between the two groups, suggesting that daytime sleepiness did not differ markedly between hypertensive patients and healthy controls. Similarly, the PSQI scores were not significantly different, indicating comparable sleep quality in both study groups. In the second part of the study, we analyzed the hypertensive group alone, and the findings showed that patients in the highest tertile of PSQI scores had significantly higher 24h MAP compared to those in the lower tertiles. The study results suggest a potential correlation between poorer sleep quality and higher MAP among hypertensive patients.

Our results align with those reported by Gonzaga et al., who found no significant difference in sleep quality between hypertensive patients and normotensive controls using the PSQI (208). This implies that while hypertension is correlated to poor CV outcomes, it may not directly impact sleep quality measures in a general hypertensive population.

The significant association between higher PSQI scores and elevated MAP within the hypertensive group is supported by research from Pepin et al., who observed that poor sleep quality correlates with increased nocturnal BP and overall cardiovascular risk (209). The similarity in results emphasizes the potential impact of sleep disturbances on BP regulation in hypertensive individuals.

Fernandez-Mendoza et al., demonstrated that objective short sleep duration modifies the relationship between hypertension and mortality, indicating broader implications for overall mortality in hypertensive individuals (210). The study demonstrates our studies focus on the importance of sleep quality in managing hypertension and reducing the associated risks.

Moreover, Haack et al., demonstrated that increasing sleep duration significantly lowers BP, reinforcing the correlation between sleep quality and hypertension management (211). Their study results indicate that improvement of sleep duration and sleep quality could lead to better BP control, which also, to some extent, resonates with our study findings of a correlation between rescripted sleep quality and higher MAP. Similarly, a study conducted in Southern Nigeria by Saeidi et al., showed that hypertensive patients with poor sleep quality had reduced BP control compared to the patients with better sleep quality (212). Standardized sleep questionnaires were used in their study, and the results demonstrated that sufficient sleep was associated with better BP management.

Other intervention studies, such as those reported by Makarem et al., have demonstrated that mild and severe sleep disturbance is associated with increased BP (213). Similarly, a systematic review by Yadav et al. indicated that insufficient sleep duration could be a significant risk factor for hypertension (214). These studies suggest that interventions to improve sleep quality could benefit BP control in hypertensive patients, highlighting an area for future research and clinical focus. Accordingly, it is worth mentioning that abundant data indicates that modifications of lifestyle, including sleep hygiene, might significantly improve CV outcomes in hypertensive individuals (215-216).

Several limitations to this study should be acknowledged. The sample size was relatively small (48 hypertensive patients and 50 healthy controls), which may limit the generalizability of the findings. More extensive studies are needed to confirm these results and provide more solid data. Another limitation is that the patients were recruited from only one medical center. Survey limitations are also present, as the study relied on self-reported sleep quality and daytime sleepiness, which raises concerns about potential recall bias and may not accurately reflect objective sleep parameters. Future studies should incorporate objective sleep assessments such as polysomnography or actigraphy to evaluate sleep disturbances comprehensively. The study employed a cross-sectional design, which limits the ability to infer causality. Longitudinal studies are needed to determine whether poor sleep quality contributes to the development of hypertension or if hypertension itself leads to sleep disturbances. Potential confounding factors such as lifestyle factors, medication use, and comorbid conditions were not fully accounted for in the analysis. Properly controlling for these variables in future research would enhance the validity of the findings.

Overall, the study highlights that are no significant differences in sleep quality or daytime sleepiness between hypertensive patients and healthy controls. However, hypertensive patients with poorer sleep quality exhibit higher 24h MAP. These findings underscore the importance of considering sleep quality in managing hypertension, as it may influence BP regulation. Further research with larger sample size, objective sleep measures, and longitudinal design is warranted to understand the complex relationship between sleep and hypertension. Addressing these factors may improve clinical outcomes and quality of life for patients with hypertension.

6. CONCLUSIONS

- 1. ESS was not higher among patients with primary hypertension than healthy controls.
- 2. PSQI was also not higher in patients with primary hypertension than in healthy controls.
- 3. Patients with primary hypertension and at the highest tertile of PSQI had a significantly higher 24h MAP compared to patients with primary hypertension and with lower tertile of PSQI.

7. REFERENCES

- Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE Jr, Collins KJ, Dennison Himmelfarb C et al. Guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: Executive summary: A report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association Task Force on Clinical Practice Guidelines. Hypertension. 2018;71:1269-1324.
- 2. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier M, et al. ESC/ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension: The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Cardiology and the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2018;36:1953-2041.
- Unger T, Borghi C, Charchar F, Khan NA, Poulter NR, Prabhakaran D et al. 2020 International society of hypertension global hypertension ractice guidelines. Hypertension. 2020;75:1334-57.
- Visseren FLJ, Mach F, Smulders YM, Carballo D, Koskinas KC, Back M, et al. 2021 ESC Guidelines on cardiovascular disease prevention in clinical practice. Eur Heart J. 2021;42:3227-3337.
- Campbell NRC, Paccot Burnens M, Whelton PK, Angell SY, Jaffe MG, Cohn J et al. World Health Organization guideline on pharmacological treatment of hypertension: Lancet Reg Health Am. 2022;9.
- 6. Mancia G, Kreutz R, Brunström M, Burnier M, Grassi G, Januszewicz A et al. ESH Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension The Task Force for the management of arterial hypertension of the European Society of Hypertension: Endorsed by the International Society of Hypertension (ISH) and the European Renal Association (ERA). J Hypertens. 2023;41:1874-2071.
- Worldwide trends in hypertension prevalence and progress in treatment and control from 1990 to 2019: a pooled analysis of 1201 population-representative studies with 104 million participants. Lancet. 2021;398:957–80.
- Benetos A, Petrovic M, Strandberg T. Hypertension management in older and frail older patients. Circ Res 2019; 124:1045-1060.
 Ji H, Kim A, Ebinger JE, Niiranen TJ, Claggett BL, Merz CNB, et al. Sex differences in blood pressure trajectories over the life course. JAMA Cardiol. 2020;5:255-62.

- Franklin SS, Gustin IVW, Wong ND, Larson MG, Weber MA, Kannel WB, et al. Hemodynamic patterns of age-related changes in blood pressure: the Framingham Heart Study. Circulation. 1997; 96:308-15.
- Page LB, Damon A, Moellering RC Jr. Antecedents of cardiovascular disease in six Solomon Islands societies. Circulation. 1974;49:1132-46.
- Poulter, N. R., Prabhakaran, D. & Caulfield, M. Hypertension. Lancet. 2015;386:801-812.
- Mills KT, Bundy JD, Kelly TN, Reed JE, Kearney PM, Reynolds K, et al. Global disparities of hypertension prevalence and control: A systematic analysis of populationbased studies from 90 Countries. Circulation. 2016;134:441-50.
- Oparil S, Acelajado MC, Bakris GL, Berlowitz DR, Cífková R, Dominiczak AF et al. Hypertension. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2018;22;4:18014.
- 14. Williams RR, Hunt SC, Hopkins PN, Hasstedt SJ, Wu LL, Lalouel JM. Tabulations and expectations regarding the genetics of human hypertension. Kidney Int. 1994;45:57-64.
- Marques FZ. Missing Heritability of Hypertension and Our Microbiome. Circulation. 2018;138:1381-3.
- 16. Dawber TR. The Framingham Study: The Epidemiology of Atherosclerotic Disease. Cambridge, MA and London, England: Harvard University Press; 1980.
- 17. Calhoun DA, Jones D, Textor S, Goff DC, Murphy TP, Toto RD, et al. Resistant hypertension: diagnosis, evaluation, and treatment. A scientific statement from the American Heart Association Professional Education Committee of the Council for High Blood Pressure Research. Hypertension. 2008;51:1403-19.
- 18. Rimoldi SF, Scherrer U, Messerli FH. Secondary arterial hypertension: when, who, and how to screen? Eur Heart J. 2014;35:1245-54.
- 19. Ott C, Schneider MP, Schmieder RE. Ruling out secondary causes of hypertension. EuroIntervention. 2013;9:21-8.
- 20. Viera AJ, Neutze DM. Diagnosis of secondary hypertension: an age-based approach. Am Fam Physician. 2010;82:1471-8.
- 21. Chrysaidou K, Chainoglou A, Karava V, Dotis J, Printza N, Stabouli S. Secondary hypertension in children and adolescents: Novel Insights. Curr Hypertens Rev. 2020;16:37-44.
- 22. Whaley-Connell AT, Sowers JR, Stevens LA, McFarlane SI, Shlipak MG, Norris KC, et al. Kidney Early Evaluation Program Investigators. CKD in the United States: Kidney

Early Evaluation Program (KEEP) and National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 1999-2004. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008;51:13-20.

- 23. Rao MV, Qiu Y, Wang C, Bakris G. Hypertension and CKD: Kidney Early Evaluation Program (KEEP) and National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES), 1999-2004. Am J Kidney Dis. 2008;51:30-7.
- 24. Hamrahian SM, Falkner B. Hypertension in Chronic Kidney Disease. Adv Exp Med Biol. 2017;956:307-25.
- 25. Mannemuddhu SS, Ojeda JC, Yadav A. Renovascular Hypertension. Prim Care. 2020;47:631-44.
- 26. Ram CV, Clagett GP, Radford LR. Renovascular hypertension. Semin Nephrol. 1995;15:152-74.
- 27. Haller H, Limbourg F, Schmidt BM, Menne J. Rare forms of hypertension: From pheochromocytoma to vasculitis. Internist (Berl). 2015;56:255-62.
- 28. Sica DA. Endocrine causes of secondary hypertension. J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2008;10:534-40.
- 29. de Silva T, Cosentino G, Ganji S, Riera-Gonzalez A, Hsia DS. Endocrine causes of hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2020;22:97.
- 30. Masi S, Uliana M, Gesi M, Taddei S, Virdis A. Drug-induced hypertension: Know the problem to know how to deal with it. Vascul Pharmacol. 2019;115:84-8.
- 31. Cuspidi C, Tadic M, Mancia G, Grassi G. White-coat hypertension: the neglected subgroup in hypertension. Korean Circ J. 2018;48(7):552-64.
- 32. Mancia G, Bertinieri G, Grassi G, Parati G, Pomidossi G, Ferrari A, et al. Effects of blood-pressure measurement by the doctor on patient's blood pressure and heart rate. Lancet. 1983;2:695-8.
- 33. Mancia G, Parati G, Pomidossi G, Grassi G, Casadei R, Zanchetti A. Alerting reaction and rise in blood pressure during measurement by physician and nurse. Hypertension. 1987;9:209-15.
- 34. Palatini P, Palomba D, Bertolo O, Minghetti R, Longo D, Sarlo M, et al. The white-coat effect is unrelated to the difference between clinic and daytime blood pressure and is associated with greater reactivity to public speaking. J Hypertens. 2003;21:545-53.
- 35. Parati G, Omboni S, Staessen J, Thijs L, Fagard R, Ulian L, et al. Limitations of the difference between clinic and daytime blood pressure as a surrogate measure of the 'white-coat' effect. Syst-Eur investigators. J Hypertens. 1998;16:23-9.

- 36. Grassi G, Quarti-Trevano F, Seravalle G, Dell'Oro R, Vanoli J, Perseghin G, et al. Sympathetic neural mechanisms underlying attended and unattended blood pressure measurement. Hypertension. 2021;78:1126-33.
- 37. Stergiou GS, Palatini P, Parati G, O'Brien E, Januszewicz A, Lurbe E, et al. 2021 European Society of Hypertension practice guidelines for office and out-of-office blood pressure measurement. J Hypertens. 2021;39:1293-302.
- 38. Grassi G, Pisano A, Bolignano D, Seravalle G, D'Arrigo G, Quarti-Trevano F et al. Sympathetic nerve traffic activation in essential hypertension and its correlates: Systematic Reviews and Meta-Analyses. Hypertension. 2018;72:483-91.
- 39. Sega R, Trocino G, Lanzarotti A, Carugo S, Cesana G, Schiavina R et al. Alterations of cardiac structure in patients with isolated office, ambulatory, or home hypertension: Data from the general population (Pressione Arteriose Monitorate E Loro Associazioni [PAMELA] Study). Circulation. 2001;104:1385-92.
- 40. Bulpitt CJ, Beckett N, Peters R, Staessen JA, Wang JG, Comsa M et al. Does white coat hypertension require treatment over age 80?: Results of the hypertension in the very elderly trial ambulatory blood pressure side project. Hypertension. 2013;61:89-94.
- 41. Mancia G, Facchetti R, Parati G, Zanchetti A. Effect of long-term antihypertensive treatment on white-coat hypertension. Hypertension. 2014; 64:1388-98.
- 42. Mancia G, Bombelli M, Cuspidi C, Facchetti R, Grassi G. Cardiovascular risk associated with white-coat hypertension: pro side of the argument. Hypertension. 2017; 70:668-75.
- 43. Anstey DE, Pugliese D, Abdalla M, Bello NA, Givens R, Shimbo D. An update on masked hypertension. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2017;19:94.
- 44. Stergiou GS, Palatini P, Parati G, O'Brien E, Januszewicz A, Lurbe E, et al. 2021 European Society of Hypertension practice guidelines for office and out-of-office blood pressure measurement. J Hypertens. 2021;39:1293-302.
- 45. Melgarejo JD, Maestre GE, Thijs L, Asayama K, Boggia J, Casiglia E, et al. Prevalence, treatment, and control rates of conventional and ambulatory hypertension across 10 populations in 3 Continents. Hypertension. 2017;70:50-8.
- 46. Hung MH, Shih LC, Wang YC, Leu HB, Huang PH, Wu TC et al. Prediction of masked hypertension and masked uncontrolled hypertension using machine learning. Front Cardiovasc Med. 2021;8:778306.

- 47. Shimbo D, Abdalla M, Falzon L, Townsend RR, Muntner P. Studies comparing ambulatory blood pressure and home blood pressure on cardiovascular disease and mortality outcomes: a systematic review. J Am Soc Hypertens. 2016;10:224-34.
- 48. Antza C, Vazakidis P, Doundoulakis I, Bouras E, Haidich AB, Stabouli S, et al. Masked and white coat hypertension, the double trouble of large arteries: A systematic review and meta-analysis. J Clin Hypertens. 2020;22:802-11.
- 49. Palatini P, Winnicki M, Santonastaso M, Mos L, Longo D, Zaetta V, et al. Prevalence and clinical significance of isolated ambulatory hypertension in young subjects screened for stage 1 hypertension. Hypertension. 2004;44:170-4.
- 50. Cuspidi C, Facchetti R, Quarti-Trevano F, Dell'Oro R, Tadic M, Grassi G, et al. Left ventricular hypertrophy in isolated and dual masked hypertension. J Clin Hypertens. 2020;22:673-7.
- 51. Cuspidi C, Sala C, Tadic M, Rescaldani M, Grassi G, Mancia G. Untreated masked hypertension and subclinical cardiac damage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Hypertens. 2015;28:806-13.
- 52. Palla M, Saber H, Konda S, Briasoulis A. Masked hypertension and cardiovascular outcomes: an updated systematic review and meta-analysis. Integr Blood Press Control. 2018;11:11-24.
- 53. Zhang DY, Guo QH, An DW, Li Y, Wang JG. A comparative meta-analysis of prospective observational studies on masked hypertension and masked uncontrolled hypertension defined by ambulatory and home blood pressure. J Hypertens. 2019; 37:1775-85.
- 54. Tientcheu D, Ayers C, Das SR, McGuire DK, de Lemos JA, Khera A, et al. Target organ complications and cardiovascular events associated with masked hypertension and white-coat hypertension: analysis from the Dallas heart study. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2015; 66:2159-69.
- 55. Kim GH. Primary Role of the kidney in pathogenesis of hypertension. Life (Basel). 2024;14:119.
- 56. Harrison TR, Resnick WR, Wintrobe MM. Harrison's principles of Internal Medicine.21. edition. London: McGraw-Hill; 2022.
- 57. Malta D, Petersen KS, Johnson C, Trieu K, Rae S, Jefferson K et al. High sodium intake increases blood pressure and risk of kidney disease. From the Science of Salt: A regularly updated systematic review of salt and health outcomes (August 2016 to March 2017). J Clin Hypertens. 2018;20:1654-65.

- Bernal A, Zafra MA, Simón MJ, Mahía J. Sodium homeostasis, a balance necessary for life. Nutrients. 2023;15:395.
- 59. Hunter RW, Bailey MA. Hyperkalemia: pathophysiology, risk factors and consequences. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2019;34:2-11.
- 60. Lorton D, Bellinger DL. Molecular mechanisms underlying β-adrenergic receptormediated cross-talk between sympathetic neurons and immune cells. Int J Mol Sci. 2015;16:5635-65.
- 61. Chhatar S, Lal G. Role of adrenergic receptor signalling in neuroimmune communication. Curr Res Immunol. 2021;2:202-17.
- 62. Pacak K. Phaeochromocytoma: a catecholamine and oxidative stress disorder. Endocr Regul. 2011;45:65-90.
- 63. Mehta JL, Lopez LM. Rebound hypertension following abrupt cessation of clonidine and metoprolol. Treatment with labetalol. Arch Intern Med. 1987;147:389-90.
- 64. Kotsis T, Christoforou P, Nastos K. Carotid body baroreceptor preservation and control of arterial pressure in eversion carotid endarterectomy. Int J Angiol. 2020;29(1):33-38.
- 65. Hart EC, Head GA, Carter JR, Wallin BG, May CN, Hamza SM et al. Recording sympathetic nerve activity in conscious humans and other mammals: guidelines and the road to standardization. Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol. 2017;312:1031-51.
- 66. Rassler B. The Renin-Angiotensin System in the development of salt-sensitive hypertension in animal models and humans. Pharmaceuticals (Basel). 2010 Mar 29;3(4):940-960.
- 67. Beierwaltes WH. The role of calcium in the regulation of renin secretion. Am J Physiol Renal Physiol. 2010;298(1):F1-F11.
- 68. Natarajan A, Jose PA; Series Editor, Consulting Editor. Renal Modulation: The Renin-Angiotensin-Aldosterone System (RAAS). Nephrology and Fluid/Electrolyte Physiology: Neonatology Questions and Controversies. 2008:107-27.
- 69. Bánhegyi V, Enyedi A, Fülöp GÁ, Oláh A, Siket IM, Váradi C et al. Human tissue Angiotensin Converting Enzyme (ACE) activity is regulated by genetic polymorphisms, posttranslational modifications, endogenous inhibitors and secretion in the serum, lungs and heart. Cells. 2021;10:1708.
- 70. Trnka P, Orellana L, Walsh M, Pool L, Borzi P. Reninoma: an uncommon cause of renin-mediated hypertension. Front Pediatr. 2014;2:89.
- 71. Kerkelä R, Ulvila J, Magga J. Natriuretic peptides in the regulation of cardiovascular physiology and metabolic events. J Am Heart Assoc. 2015;27:4(10):e002423.

- Woodard GE, Rosado JA. Natriuretic peptides in vascular physiology and pathology. Int Rev Cell Mol Biol. 2008;268:59-93.
- 73. Curry FR. Atrial natriuretic peptide: an essential physiological regulator of transvascular fluid, protein transport, and plasma volume. J Clin Invest. 2005;115:1458-61.
- 74. Armaly Z, Assady S, Abassi Z. Corin: a new player in the regulation of salt-water balance and blood pressure. Curr Opin Nephrol Hypertens. 2013;22:713-22.
- 75. Schlueter N, de Sterke A, Willmes DM, Spranger J, Jordan J, Birkenfeld AL. Metabolic actions of natriuretic peptides and therapeutic potential in the metabolic syndrome. Pharmacol Ther. 2014;144:12-27.
- 76. Khaddaj Mallat R, Mathew John C, Kendrick DJ, Braun AP. The vascular endothelium: A regulator of arterial tone and interface for the immune system. Crit Rev Clin Lab Sci. 2017;54:458-470.
- 77. Sandoo A, van Zanten JJ, Metsios GS, Carroll D, Kitas GD. The endothelium and its role in regulating vascular tone. Open Cardiovasc Med J. 2010;23;4:302-12.
- 78. Shiekh GA, Ayub T, Khan SN, Dar R, Andrabi KI. Reduced nitrate level in individuals with hypertension and diabetes. J Cardiovasc Dis Res. 2011;2:172-6.
- Kohan DE, Barton M. Endothelin and endothelin antagonists in chronic kidney disease. Kidney Int. 2014;86:896-904.
- 80. Serrano-Ponz M, Rodrigo-Gasqué C, Siles E, Martínez-Lara E, Ochoa-Callejero L, Martínez A. Temporal profiles of blood pressure, circulating nitric oxide, and adrenomedullin as predictors of clinical outcome in acute ischemic stroke patients. Mol Med Rep. 2016;13:3724-34.
- 81. Vendégh Z, Melly A, Tóth B, Wolf K, Farkas T, Kádas I et al. Calcitonin gene-related peptide, substance P, nitric oxide and epinephrine modulate bone marrow micro circulation of the rabbit tibia and femur. Clin Hemorheol Microcirc. 2010;45:9-17.
- Yu M, Moreno C, Hoagland KM, Dahly A, Ditter K, Mistry M et al. Antihypertensive effect of glucagon-like peptide 1 in Dahl salt-sensitive rats. J Hypertens. 2003;21:1125-35.
- 83. Popolo A, Autore G, Pinto A, Marzocco S. Oxidative stress in patients with cardiovascular disease and chronic renal failure. Free Radic Res. 2013;47:346-56.
- 84. Lazich I, Bakris GL. Endothelin antagonism in patients with resistant hypertension and hypertension nephropathy. Contrib Nephrol. 2011;172:223-34.

- 85. Panza JA, Casino PR, Badar DM, Quyyumi AA. Effect of increased availability of endothelium-derived nitric oxide precursor on endothelium-dependent vascular relaxation in normal subjects and in patients with essential hypertension. Circulation. 1993;87:1475-81.
- 86. Dharmashankar K, Widlansky ME. Vascular endothelial function and hypertension: insights and directions. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2010;12:448-55.
- 87. Zile MR, Brutsaert DL. New concepts in diastolic dysfunction and diastolic heart failure: Part I: diagnosis, prognosis, and measurements of diastolic function. Circulation. 2002;105:1387-93.
- Kwiatkowska E, Kwiatkowski S, Dziedziejko V, Tomasiewicz I, Domański L. Renal microcirculation injury as the main cause of ischemic acute kidney injury development. Biology. 2023;12:327.
- 89. Summary of Recommendation Statements. Kidney Int Suppl. 2013;3:5-14.
- 90. Levey AS, Stevens LA, Schmid CH, Zhang YL, Castro AF 3rd, Feldman HI, et al. A new equation to estimate glomerular filtration rate. Ann Intern Med. 2009;150:604-12.
- 91. Matsushita K, Mahmoodi BK, Woodward M, Emberson JR, Jafar TH, Jee SH, et al. Comparison of risk prediction using the CKD-EPI equation and the MDRD study equation for estimated glomerular filtration rate. JAMA. 2012;307:1941-51.
- 92. Scuteri A, Benetos A, Sierra C, Coca A, Chicherio C, Frisoni GB, et al. Routine assessment of cognitive function in older patients with hypertension seen by primary care physicians: why and how-a decision-making support from the working group on 'hypertension and the brain' of the European Society of Hypertension and from the European Geriatric Medicine Society. J Hypertens. 2021;39:90-100.
- 93. Vermeer SE, Longstreth WT Jr, Koudstaal PJ. Silent brain infarcts: a systematic review. Lancet Neurol. 2007;6:611-9.
- 94. Iadecola C, Duering M, Hachinski V, Joutel A, Pendlebury ST, Schneider JA, et al. Vascular Cognitive Impairment and Dementia: JACC Scientific Expert Panel. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2019 73:3326-44.
- 95. Breslin DJ, Gifford RW Jr, Fairbairn JF 2nd, Kearns TP. Prognostic importance of ophthalmoscopic findings in essential hypertension. JAMA. 1966;195:335-8.
- 96. Sairenchi T, Iso H, Yamagishi K, Irie F, Okubo Y, Gunji J, et al. Mild retinopathy is a risk factor for cardiovascular mortality in Japanese with and without hypertension: the Ibaraki Prefectural Health Study. Circulation. 2011;124:2502–11.
- 97. Wong TY, Mitchell P. The eye in hypertension. Lancet. 2007;369:425-35.

- 98. Stergiou GS, Palatini P, Parati G, O'Brien E, Januszewicz A, Lurbe E et al. 2021 European Society of Hypertension practice guidelines for office and out-of-office blood pressure measurement. J Hypertens. 2021; 39:1293-302.
- 99. Thomopoulos C, Parati G, Zanchetti A. Effects of blood pressure lowering on outcome incidence in hypertension. 1. Overview, meta-analyses, and meta-regression analyses of randomized trials. J Hypertens. 2014; 32:2285-95.
- Stergiou GS, Kyriakoulis KG, Kollias A. Office blood pressure measurement types: Different methodology-different clinical conclusions. J Clin Hypertens. 2018;20:1683-85.
- 101. Sprafka JM, Strickland D, Gomez-Marin O, Prineas RJ. The effect of cuff size on blood pressure measurement in adults. Epidemiology. 1991;2:214-17.
- 102. Plumettaz C, Viswanathan B, Bovet P. Hypertension prevalence based on blood pressure measurements on two vs. one visits. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2020;15;17(24):9395.
- 103. Clark CE, Warren FC, Boddy K, McDonagh STJ, Moore SF, Teresa Alzamora M et al. Higher arm versus lower arm systolic blood pressure and cardiovascular outcomes: a meta-analysis of individual participant data from the INTERPRESS-IPD Collaboration. Hypertension. 2022;79:2328-35.
- 104. Clark CE, Taylor RS, Shore AC, Ukoumunne OC, Campbell JL. Association of a difference in systolic blood pressure between arms with vascular disease and mortality: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2012;379:905-14.
- 105. Myers MG. A short history of automated office blood pressure 15 Years to SPRINT. J Clin Hypertens. 2016;18:721-4.
- 106. Roerecke M, Kaczorowski J, Myers MG. Comparing automated office blood pressure readings with other methods of blood pressure measurement for identifying patients with possible hypertension: A systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA Intern Med. 2019;179:351-62.
- 107. Grassi G, Quarti-Trevano F, Seravalle G, Dell'Oro R, Vanoli J, Perseghin G et al. Sympathetic neural mechanisms underlying attended and unattended blood pressure measurement. Hypertension. 2021;78:1126-33.
- 108. Parati G, Stergiou GS, Bilo G, Kollias A, Pengo M, Ochoa JE, et al. Home blood pressure monitoring: methodology, clinical relevance and practical application: a 2021 position paper by the working group on blood pressure monitoring and cardiovascular variability of the European Society of Hypertension. J Hypertens. 2021;39:1742-67.

- 109. Niiranen TJ, Asayama K, Thijs L, Johansson JK, Ohkubo T, Kikuya M, et al. Outcome-driven thresholds for home blood pressure measurement: international database of home blood pressure in relation to cardiovascular outcome. Hypertension. 2013;61:27-34.
- 110. Ward AM, Takahashi O, Stevens R, Heneghan C. Home measurement of blood pressure and cardiovascular disease: systematic review and meta- analysis of prospective studies. J Hypertens. 2012;30:449-56.
- Bilalic A, Ticinovic Kurir T, Kumric M, Borovac JA, Matetic A, Supe-Domic D, Bozic J. Circulating levels of dephosphorylated-uncarboxylated matrix gla protein in patients with acute coronary syndrome. Molecules. 2021;26:1108.
- 112. Piper MA, Evans CV, Burda BU, Margolis KL, O'Connor E, Whitlock EP. Diagnostic and predictive accuracy of blood pressure screening methods with consideration of rescreening intervals: a systematic review for the U.S. Preventive Services Task Force. Ann Intern Med. 2015;162:192-204.
- 113. Ntineri A, Niiranen TJ, McManus RJ, Lindroos A, Jula A, Schwartz C, et al. Ambulatory versus home blood pressure monitoring: frequency and determinants of blood pressure difference and diagnostic disagreement. J Hypertens. 2019;37:1974-81.
- 114. Parati G, Pomidossi G, Casadei R, Mancia G. Lack of alerting reactions to intermittent cuff inflations during noninvasive blood pressure monitoring. Hypertension. 1985;7:597-601.
- 115. Kyriakoulis KG, Ntineri A, Niiranen TJ, Lindroos A, Jula A, Schwartz C et al. Home blood pressure monitoring schedule: optimal and minimum based on 2122 individual participants' data. J Hypertens. 2022;40:1380-87.
- Hodgkinson JA, Stevens R, Grant S, Mant J, Bray EP, Hobbs FDR, et al. Schedules for self-monitoring blood pressure: A Systematic Review. Am J Hypertens. 2019; 32:350-364.
- 117. Barochiner J, Aparicio LS, Martínez R, Boggia J. Prognostic value of home blood pressure monitoring in patients under antihypertensive treatment. J Hum Hypertens. 2023;37:775-82.
- 118. Staplin N, de la Sierra A, Ruilope LM, Emberson JR, Vinyoles E, Gorostidi M et al. Relationship between clinic and ambulatory blood pressure and mortality: an observational cohort study in 59 124 patients. Lancet. 2023;401:2041-50.

- 119. Clement DL, De Buyzere ML, De Bacquer DA, de Leeuw PW, Duprez DA, Fagard RH et al. Prognostic value of ambulatory blood-pressure recordings in patients with treated hypertension. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:2407-15.
- 120. Mancia G. Evidence in favour of ambulatory blood pressure grows but gaps in knowledge remain. Lancet. 2023;401:2014-5.
- 121. Li Y, Wang JG. Isolated nocturnal hypertension: a disease masked in the dark. Hypertension. 2013;61:278-83.
- 122. Mancia G, Verdecchia P. Clinical value of ambulatory blood pressure: evidence and limits. Circ Res. 2015;116:1034-45.
- 123. Kumric M, Dujic G, Vrdoljak J, Svagusa K, Kurir TT, Supe-Domic D et al. CBD supplementation reduces arterial blood pressure via modulation of the sympathochromaffin system: A substudy from the HYPER-H21-4 trial. Biomed Pharmacother. 2023;160:114387.
- 124. Börjesson M, Onerup A, Lundqvist S, Dahlöf B. Physical activity and exercise lower blood pressure in individuals with hypertension: narrative review of 27 RCTs. Br J Sports Med. 2016;50:356-61.
- 125. MacDonald HV, Johnson BT, Huedo-Medina TB, Livingston J, Forsyth KC, Kraemer WJ et al. Dynamic resistance training as Stand-alone antihypertensive lifestyle therapy: A Meta-Analysis. J Am Heart Assoc. 2016;5:3231.
- 126. Egan BM, Zhao Y, Axon RN, Brzezinski WA, Ferdinand KC. Uncontrolled and apparent treatment resistant hypertension in the United States, 1988 to 2008. Circulation. 2011;124:1046-58.
- 127. Zomer E, Gurusamy K, Leach R, Trimmer C, Lobstein T, Morris S et al. Interventions that cause weight loss and the impact on cardiovascular risk factors: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Obes Rev. 2016;17:1001-11.
- 128. Stevens VJ, Obarzanek E, Cook NR, Lee IM, Appel LJ, Smith West D et al. Trials for the hypertension prevention research group. Long-term weight loss and changes in blood pressure: results of the Trials of hypertension prevention, phase II. Ann Intern Med. 2001;134:1-11.
- 129. Mente A, O'Donnell M, Yusuf S. Sodium intake and health: What should we recommend based on the current evidence? Nutrients. 2021;16;13(9):3232.
- 130. Van Horn L, Carson JA, Appel LJ, Burke LE, Economos C, Karmally W et al. Recommended dietary pattern to achieve adherence to the American Heart

Association/American College of Cardiology (AHA/ACC) Guidelines: A scientific statement from the American Heart Association. Circulation. 2016;134:505-29.

- He FJ, MacGregor GA. Effect of modest salt reduction on blood pressure: a meta-analysis of randomized trials. Implications for public health. J Hum Hypertens. 2002;16:761-70.
- 132. Sacks FM, Svetkey LP, Vollmer WM, Appel LJ, Bray GA, Harsha D et al. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. Effects on blood pressure of reduced dietary sodium and the Dietary Approaches to Stop Hypertension (DASH) diet. DASH-Sodium Collaborative Research Group. N Engl J Med. 2001;344:3-10.
- 133. Langford HG, Blaufox MD, Oberman A, Hawkins CM, Curb JD, Cutter GR et al. Dietary therapy slows the return of hypertension after stopping prolonged medication. JAMA. 1985;253:657-64.
- 134. Whelton PK, Appel LJ, Espeland MA, Applegate WB, Ettinger WH Jr, Kostis JB et al. Sodium reduction and weight loss in the treatment of hypertension in older persons: a randomized controlled trial of nonpharmacologic interventions in the elderly (TONE). TONE Collaborative Research Group. JAMA. 1998;279:839-46.
- 135. Bibbins-Domingo K, Chertow GM, Coxson PG, Moran A, Lightwood JM, Pletcher MJ et al. Projected effect of dietary salt reductions on future cardiovascular disease. N Engl J Med. 2010;362:590-9.
- 136. Graudal NA, Hubeck-Graudal T, Jurgens G. Effects of low sodium diet versus high sodium diet on blood pressure, renin, aldosterone, catecholamines, cholesterol, and triglyceride. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2011;9;(11):CD004022.
- 137. He FJ, MacGregor GA. Reducing population salt intake-time for global action.J Clin Hypertens (Greenwich). 2015;17:10-3.
- 138. Whelton PK, He J, Cutler JA, Brancati FL, Appel LJ, Follmann D et al. Effects of oral potassium on blood pressure. Meta-analysis of randomized controlled clinical trials. JAMA. 1997;277:1624-32.
- 139. Aburto NJ, Hanson S, Gutierrez H, Hooper L, Elliott P, Cappuccio FP. Effect of increased potassium intake on cardiovascular risk factors and disease: systematic review and meta-analyses. BMJ. 2013;346:1378.
- 140. Cappuccio FP, MacGregor GA. Does potassium supplementation lower blood pressure? A meta-analysis of published trials. J Hypertens. 1991;9:465-73.

- 141. Chalmers J, Morgan T, Doyle A, Dickson B, Hopper J, Mathews J et al. Australian National Health and Medical Research Council dietary salt study in mild hypertension. J Hypertens Suppl. 1986;4:629-37.
- 142. Kidney Disease Outcomes Quality Initiative (K/DOQI). K/DOQI clinical practice guidelines on hypertension and antihypertensive agents in chronic kidney disease. Am J Kidney Dis. 2004;43:1-290.
- 143. Ettehad D, Emdin CA, Kiran A, Anderson SG, Callender T, Emberson J et al. Blood pressure lowering for prevention of cardiovascular disease and death: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Lancet. 2016;387:957-67.
- 144. Turnbull F; Blood Pressure Lowering Treatment Trialists' Collaboration. Effects of different blood-pressure-lowering regimens on major cardiovascular events: results of prospectively-designed overviews of randomised trials. Lancet. 2003;362:1527-35.
- 145. Yusuf S, Teo KK, Pogue J, Dyal L, Copland I, Schumacher H et al. Telmisartan, ramipril, or both in patients at high risk for vascular events. N Engl J Med. 2008;358:1547-59.
- 146. Bosch J, Yusuf S, Gerstein HC, Pogue J, Sheridan P, Dagenais G et al. Effect of ramipril on the incidence of diabetes. N Engl J Med. 2006;355:1551-62.
- 147. Brown NJ, Ray WA, Snowden M, Griffin MR. Black Americans have an increased rate of angiotensin converting enzyme inhibitor-associated angioedema. Clin Pharmacol Ther. 1996;60:8-13.
- 148. Brown NJ, Byiers S, Carr D, Maldonado M, Warner BA. Dipeptidyl peptidase-IV inhibitor use associated with increased risk of ACE inhibitor-associated angioedema. Hypertension. 2009;54:516-23.
- 149. Guazzi MD, Cipolla C, Della Bella P, Fabbiocchi F, Montorsi P, Sganzerla P. Disparate unloading efficacy of the calcium channel blockers, verapamil and nifedipine, on the failing hypertensive left ventricle. Am Heart J. 1984;108:116-23.
- 150. Thomopoulos C, Parati G, Zanchetti A. Effects of blood pressure-lowering on outcome incidence in hypertension: 5. Head-to-head comparisons of various classes of antihypertensive drugs - overview and meta-analyses. J Hypertens. 2015; 33:1321-41.
- 151. Harari D, Gurwitz JH, Avorn J, Choodnovskiy I, Minaker KL. Correlates of regular laxative use by frail elderly persons. Am J Med. 1995;99:513-8.
- 152. Bernard E, Goutelle S, Bertrand Y, Bleyzac N. Pharmacokinetic drug-drug interaction of calcium channel blockers with cyclosporine in hematopoietic stem cell transplant children. Ann Pharmacother. 2014;48:1580-4.

- Effects of treatment on morbidity in hypertension. Results in patients with diastolic blood pressures averaging 115 through 129 mm Hg. JAMA. 1967;202:1028-34.
- 154. Thomopoulos C, Parati G, Zanchetti A. Effects of blood pressure-lowering on outcome incidence in hypertension: Head-to-head comparisons of various classes of antihypertensive drugs overview and meta-analyses. J Hypertens. 2015;33:1321-41.
- 155. Psaty BM, Lumley T, Furberg CD, Schellenbaum G, Pahor M, Alderman MH, et al. Health outcomes associated with various antihypertensive therapies used as first-line agents: a network meta-analysis. JAMA. 2003;289:2534-44.
- 156. Wei J, Galaviz KI, Kowalski AJ, Magee MJ, Haw JS, Narayan KMV et al. Comparison of cardiovascular events among users of different classes of antihypertension medications. JAMA Netw Open. 2020;5;3(2):e1921618.
- 157. Chalmers J, Mourad JJ, Brzozowska-Villatte R, De Champvallins M, Mancia G. Benefit of treatment based on indapamide mostly combined with perindopril on mortality and cardiovascular outcomes: a pooled analysis of four trials. J Hypertens. 2023;41:508-15.
- 158. Barzilay JI, Davis BR, Pressel SL, Cutler JA, Einhorn PT, Black HR et al. Longterm effects of incident diabetes mellitus on cardiovascular outcomes in people treated for hypertension: the ALLHAT Diabetes Extension Study. Circ Cardiovasc Qual Outcomes. 2012;5:153-62.
- 159. Silva IVG, de Figueiredo RC, Rios DRA. Effect of different classes of antihypertensive drugs on endothelial function and inflammation. Int J Mol Sci. 2019;14;20(14):3458.
- 160. do Vale GT, Ceron CS, Gonzaga NA, Simplicio JA, Padovan JC. Three generations of β-blockers: history, class differences and clinical applicability. Curr Hypertens Rev. 2019;15:22-31.
- 161. Viigimaa M, Vlachopoulos C, Doumas M, Wolf J, Imprialos K, Terentes-Printzios D et al. European Society of Hypertension Working Group on Sexual Dysfunction. Update of the position paper on arterial hypertension and erectile dysfunction. J Hypertens. 2020;38:1220-34.
- 162. Wiysonge CS, Bradley HA, Volmink J, Mayosi BM, Opie LH. Beta-blockers for hypertension. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;1:2003.
- 163. Langan R, Jones K. Common questions about the initial management of hypertension. Am Fam Physician. 2015;91:172-7.

- 164. Nelson KL, Davis JE, Corbett CF. Sleep quality: An evolutionary concept analysis. Nurs Forum. 2022;57:144-51.
- 165. Pankowska MM, Lu H, Wheaton AG, Liu Y, Lee B, Greenlund KJ, Carlson SA. Prevalence and geographic patterns of self-reported short sleep duration among US Adults, 2020. Prev Chronic Dis. 2023;20:53.
- 166. Liu Y. Prevalence of healthy sleep duration among adults—United states, 2014.MMWR Morbid Mortal Wkly Rep. 2016;65:137-41.
- 167. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Short sleep duration among workers—United states, 2010. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2012;61:281-28.
- 168. Yong LC, Li J, Calvert GM. Sleep-related problems in the US working population: prevalence and association with shiftwork status. Occup Environ Med. 2017;74:93-104.
- 169. Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hla KM. Increased prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177:1006-14.
- 170. Whelton PK, Carey RM, Aronow WS, Casey DE, Collins KJ, Himmelfarb CD et al. A guideline for the prevention, detection, evaluation, and management of high blood pressure in adults: a report of the American College of Cardiology/American Heart Association task force on clinical practice guidelines. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;71:24430.
- 171. Manohar S, Thongprayoon C, Cheungpasitporn W, Mao MA, Herrmann SM. Associations of rotational shift work and night shift status with hypertension: a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 2017;35:1929-37.
- 172. Makarem N, Shechter A, Carnethon MR, Mullington JM, Hall MH, Abdalla M. Sleep duration and blood pressure: recent advances and future directions. Curr Hypertens Rep. 2019;21:33.
- 173. Kecklund G, Axelsson J. Health consequences of shift work and insufficient sleep. BMJ. 2016;355:5210.
- 174. St-Onge MP, Grandner MA, Brown D, Conroy MB, Jean-Louis G, Coons M et al. Sleep Duration and Quality: Impact on lifestyle behaviors and cardiometabolic health: A scientific statement from the american heart association. Circulation. 2016;134:367-86.
- 175. Chen IY, Jarrin DC, Ivers H, Morin CM. Investigating psychological and physiological responses to the trier social stress test in young adults with insomnia. Sleep Med. 2017;40:11-22.

- 176. Torquati L, Mielke GI, Brown WJ, Kolbe-Alexander T. Shift work and the risk of cardiovascular disease. A systematic review and meta-analysis including doseresponse relationship. Scand J Work Environ Health. 2018;44:229-38.
- 177. Yeom JH, Sim CS, Lee J, Yun SH, Park SJ, Yoo CI et al. Effect of shift work on hypertension: cross sectional study. Ann Occup Environ Med. 2017;29:11.
- 178. Lu K, Chen J, Wang L, Wang C, Ding R, Wu S et al. Association of sleep duration, sleep quality and shift-work schedule in relation to hypertension prevalence in chinese adult males: a cross-sectional survey. Int J Environ Res Public Health. 2017;14:210.
- 179. Rotenberg L, Silva-Costa A, Vasconcellos-Silva PR, Griep RH. Work schedule and self-reported hypertension - the potential beneficial role of on-shift naps for night workers. Chronobiol Int. 2016;33:697-705.
- 180. Ferguson JM, Costello S, Neophytou AM, Balmes JR, Bradshaw PT, Cullen MR, Eisen EA. Night and rotational work exposure within the last12 months and risk of incident hypertension. Scand J Work Environ Health.2019;45:256-66.
- 181. Manohar S, Thongprayoon C, Cheungpasitporn W, Mao MA, Herrmann SM.Associations of rotational shift work and night shift status with hypertension:a systematic review and meta-analysis. J Hypertens. 2017;35:1929-37.
- Makarem N, Alcántara C, Williams N, Bello NA, Abdalla M. Effect of Sleep Disturbances on Blood Pressure. Hypertension. 2021;77:1036-46.
- 183. Cano-Pumarega I, Durán-Cantolla J, Aizpuru F, Miranda-Serrano E, Rubio R, Martínez-Null C et al. Obstructive sleep apnea and systemic hypertension: longitudinal study in the general population: the Vitoria sleep cohort. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2011;184:1299-304.
- 184. Hale L, Do DP. Racial differences in self-reports of sleep duration in a population-based study. Sleep. 2007;30:1096-103.
- 185. Carnethon MR, De Chavez PJ, Zee PC, Kim KY, Liu K, Goldberger JJ et al. Disparities in sleep characteristics by race/ethnicity in a population-based sample: Chicago area sleep study. Sleep Med. 2016;18:50-5.
- 186. Lieu SJ, Curhan GC, Schernhammer ES, Forman JP. Rotating night shift work and disparate hypertension risk in African-Americans. J Hypertens. 2012;30:61-6.
- 187. Sands-Lincoln M, Grandner M, Whinnery J, Keenan BT, Jackson N, Gurubhagavatula I. The association between obstructive sleep apnea and hypertension

by race/ethnicity in a nationally representative sample. J Clin Hypertens. 2013;15:593-9.

- Sankri-Tarbichi AG. Obstructive sleep apnea-hypopnea syndrome: Etiology and diagnosis. Avicenna J Med. 2012;2:3-8.
- Veasey SC, Rosen IM. Obstructive sleep apnea in adults. N Engl J Med. 2019; 380:1442-49.
- 190. Peppard PE, Young T, Barnet JH, Palta M, Hagen EW, Hla KM. Increased prevalence of sleep-disordered breathing in adults. Am J Epidemiol. 2013;177:1006-14.
- 191. Torres G, Sánchez-de-la-Torre M, Barbé F. Relationship between OSA and hypertension. Chest. 2015;148:824-32.
- 192. Mihovilovic A, Dogas Z, Martinovic D, Tokic D, Puizina Mladinic E, Kumric M et al. Serum urotensin II levels are elevated in patients with obstructive sleep apnea. Biomolecules. 2023;13:914.
- 193. Kecklund G, Axelsson J. Health consequences of shift work and insufficient sleep. BMJ. 2016;355:5210.
- 194. Arnardottir ES, Mackiewicz M, Gislason T, Teff KL, Pack AI. Molecular signatures of obstructive sleep apnea in adults: a review and perspective. Sleep. 2009;32:447-70.
- 195. Heffernan A, Duplancic D, Kumric M, Ticinovic Kurir T, Bozic J. Metabolic crossroads: Unveiling the complex interactions between obstructive sleep apnoea and metabolic syndrome. Int J Mol Sci. 202413;25:3243.
- 196. Hou H, Zhao Y, Yu W, Dong H, Xue X, Ding J et al. Association of obstructive sleep apnea with hypertension: a systematic review and metaanalysis. J Glob Health. 2018;8:010405.
- 197. Qaseem A, Holty JE, Owens DK, Dallas P, Starkey M, Shekelle P. Management of obstructive sleep apnea in adults. A clinical practice guideline from the American college of physicians. Ann Intern Med. 2013;1;159(7):471-83.
- 198. Cuspidi C, Tadic M, Sala C, Gherbesi E, Grassi G, Mancia G. Blood pressure non-dipping and obstructive sleep apnea syndrome: a meta-analysis. J Clin Med. 2019;8:1367.
- 199. Hla KM, Young T, Finn L, Peppard PE, Szklo-Coxe M, Stubbs M. Longitudinal association of sleep-disordered breathing and nondipping of nocturnal blood pressure in the Wisconsin sleep cohort study. Sleep. 2008;31:795-800.

- 200. Crinion SJ, Ryan S, Kleinerova J, Kent BD, Gallagher J, Ledwidge M et al. Nondipping nocturnal blood pressure predicts sleep apnea in patients with hypertension. J Clin Sleep Med. 2019;15:957-63.
- 201. Genta-Pereira DC, Furlan SF, Omote DQ, Giorgi DMA, Bortolotto LA, Lorenzi-Filho G et al. Nondipping blood pressure patterns predict obstructive sleep apnea in patients undergoing ambulatory blood pressure monitoring. Hypertension. 2018;72:979-85.
- 202. Martinovic D, Tokic D, Puizina-Mladinic E, Kadic S, Lesin A, Lupi-Ferandin S et al. Oromaxillofacial Surgery: Both a Treatment and a Possible Cause of Obstructive Sleep Apnea-A Narrative Review. Life (Basel). 2023;13(1):142.
- 203. Fava C, Dorigoni S, Dalle Vedove F, Danese E, Montagnana M, Guidi GC et al. Effect of CPAP on blood pressure in patients with OSA/hypopnea a systematic review and meta-analysis. Chest. 2014;145:762-71.
- 204. Williams B, Mancia G, Spiering W, Agabiti Rosei E, Azizi M, Burnier M et al. Guidelines for the management of arterial hypertension. Eur Heart J. 2018;39:3021-104.
- 205. Rubin A, Mangal R, Stead TS, Walker J, Ganti L. The extent of sleep deprivation and daytime sleepiness in young adults. Health Psychol Res. 2023;13;11:74555.
- 206. Wu S, Wang R, Ma X, Zhao Y, Yan X, He J. Excessive daytime sleepiness assessed by the Epworth Sleepiness Scale and its association with health-related quality of life: a population-based study in China. BMC Public Health. 2012;12:849.
- 207. Park BK. The Pittsburg Sleep Quality Index (PSQI) and associated factors in middle-school students: A Cross-sectional Study. Child Health Nurs Res. 2020;26:55-63.
- 208. Hashemipour S, Ghorbani A, Khashayar A, Olfati H. Association of sleep quality with insulin resistance in obese or overweight subjects. Sleep Sci. 2021;14:75-8.
- 209. Pepin JL, Borel AL, Tamisier R, Baguet JP, Levy P, Dauvilliers Y. Hypertension and sleep: overview of a tight relationship. Sleep Med Rev. 2014;18:509-19.
- 210. Fernandez-Mendoza J. The insomnia with short sleep duration phenotype: an update on it's importance for health and prevention. Curr Opin Psychiatry. 2017;30:56-63.
- 211. Haack M, Serrador J, Cohen D, Simpson N, Meier-Ewert H, Mullington JM. Increasing sleep duration to lower beat-to-beat blood pressure: a pilot study. J Sleep Res. 2013;22:295-304.

- 212. Tavasoli A, Saeidi M, Hooman N. Correlation between sleep quality and blood pressure changes in iranian children. J Compr Ped. 2015;6:24805.
- 213. Makarem N, Alcántara C, Williams N, Bello NA, Abdalla M. Effect of sleep disturbances on blood pressure. Hypertension. 2021;77:1036-46.
- 214. Yadav D, Hyun DS, Ahn SV, Koh SB, Kim JY. A prospective study of the association between total sleep duration and incident hypertension. J Clin Hypertens. 2017;19:550-7.
- 215. Martinovic D, Tokic D, Martinovic L, Kumric M, Vilovic M, Rusic D et al. Adherence to the Mediterranean diet and its association with the level of physical activity in fitness center users: Croatian-Based Study. Nutrients. 2021;13:4038.
- 216. Komic L, Kumric M, Urlic H, Rizikalo A, Grahovac M, Kelam J et al. Obesity and clonal hematopoiesis of indeterminate potential: allies in cardiovascular diseases and malignancies. Life (Basel). 2023;13:1365.

8. SUMMARY

Objectives: The aim of the study was to analyze if there is a difference in daytime sleepiness and sleep quality between patients with primary hypertension and healthy controls and to evaluate if there was a potential correlation between poorer sleep quality and higher MAP among hypertensive patients.

Materials and methods: The study employed a cross-sectional design conducted at the Department of Pathophysiology, University of Split School of Medicine, Croatia. Informed consent was obtained from all 98 participants, including 48 with primary hypertension and 50 healthy controls. The protocol included blood sampling, bioimpedance analysis, anthropometric measurements, OBPM, ABPM, and surveys. For ABPM used Schiller BR-102 plus PWA devices for 24-hour monitoring. Venous blood samples were taken after 12 hours of fasting and analyzed unthinkingly. Daytime sleepiness was measured using the ESS and sleep quality was assessed with PSQI.

Results: No significant differences were found in ESS scores (P = 0.624) or PSQI scores (P = 0.767) between the groups. Within the hypertensive group, higher PSQI scores were associated with significantly higher MAP (106.5 \pm 11.2 vs. 102.3 \pm 11.4 vs. 100.4 \pm 11.2 mmHg, *P* < 0.001), indicating poorer sleep quality may be linked to higher BP.

Conclusion: The study results indicate that there is no significant difference in ESS and PSQI in patients with primary hypertension compared to the healthy controls. However, the study results suggest a potential correlation between poorer sleep quality and higher MAP among hypertensive patients.

9. CROATIAN SUMMARY

Naslov: Procjena kvalitete spavanja u bolesnika s arterijskom hipertenzijom

Ciljevi: Cilj studije bio je analizirati postoji li razlika u dnevnoj pospanosti i kvaliteti spavanja između bolesnika s primarnom hipertenzijom i zdravih kontrola te procijeniti postoji li potencijalna korelacija između lošije kvalitete spavanja i višeg srednjeg arterijskog tlaka među hipertenzivnim pacijentima.

Ispitanici i metode: Studija je provedena kao presječna studija na Katedri za patofiziologiju Medicinskog fakulteta Sveučilišta u Splitu, Hrvatska. Informiran pristanak je dobiven od svih 98 sudionika, uključujući 48 s primarnom hipertenzijom i 50 zdravih kontrola. Protokol je uključivao uzimanje uzoraka krvi, bioimpedancijsku analizu, antropometrijska mjerenja, mjerenje arterijskog tlaka (u ordinaciji, ali i uređajem za kontinuirano mjerenje arterijskog tlaka (KMAT)). Uređaji Schiller BR-102 plus PWA su korišteni za 24-satno praćenje arterijskog tlaka. Venski uzorci krvi uzimani su nakon 12-satnog posta i analizirani bez pristranosti. Dnevna pospanost mjerena je pomoću Epworthove skale pospanosti (engl. *Epworth Sleepiness Scale*, ESS), a kvaliteta sna procijenjena je pomoću Pittsburgh indeksa kvalitete spavanja (engl. *Pittsburgh Sleep Quality Index*, PSQI).

Rezultati: Nisu pronađene značajne razlike u rezultatima ESS (P = 0,624) niti PSQI (P = 0,767) između skupina od interesa. Unutar hipertenzivne skupine, viši PSQI rezultati bili su pristuni u bolesnika sa značajno višim prosječnim arterijskim tlakom (106,5 ± 11,2 vs. 102,3 ± 11,4 vs. 100,4 ± 11,2 mmHg, P < 0,001), što ukazuje na to da lošija kvaliteta sna može biti povezana s višim krvnim tlakom.

Zaključak: Rezultati studije ukazuju na to da nema značajnih razlika u ESS i PSQI između bolesnika s primarnom hipertenzijom i zdravih kontrola. Međutim, rezultati studije sugeriraju potencijalnu korelaciju između lošije kvalitete spavanja i višeg MAP-a među hipertenzivnim bolesnicima.

10. CURRICULUM VITAE

Personal information

Education

2019-2024 University of Split, school of medicine 2018-2019 ONH – Oslo nye høyskole, Medicine 1+5 2014-2017 Skedsmo videregående skole

Work experience

July 2022-today. Medical assistant, Cardiology Department, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway
2021-2024, Assistant, Omsorgspartner (institution) Son, Norway
2018-2023, Assistant Hvam bolig (institution)| Skjetten, Norway
2016-2019, Sales associate Brilleland (optical store) Strømmen, Norway

Internship

2023, Nephrology Department, Akershus University Hospital, Lørenskog, Norway

Language skills

Norwegian (mother tongue) Bosnian/Croatian/Serbian (fluent) English (fluent) Swedish (fluent) Danish (fluent)